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PREFACE

In the very nasture of this research are inbedded
certaln problems of delimitation which necessitmste a certain
marking of 1ts bounds. The character of thesme limits sre
such as could not be clarified in the study's short statement
of title.

The study does not presume to bLe mo exhaustively
thorough as to Include every short«lived attempt to faﬁnd
a privaete secondary schoel in Kansas, but does inelude &
large and very nearly complete list of those considered
in the 1light of comparstive Informatlien to be historically
important in the growth of education in the state.

Lmphasls is glven to those academies and secondary
schools of academy-like organization whose historical
development seems tv overshsdow in imporbtance that of their
contemporaries. Thils emphasis 1s evidenced in each case
by tie additional space in the manmuscript alloted to partie
cular achools, An example of thils is the comparative hilstor-
ical significance of the invasion of central Kansas by the
German Mennonites from Russla and thelr schools, and the
more prosaic influx of Indiana, Ohlo and Illinols settlers
with their mushroom growth of academies founded according

to their own ideas, jointly and severally. The writer, in
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undertaking te evaluate these sltuations, has striven for
reliable and valld unblased statements of historieal faects
end nothing else.

The study further undertakes to inelude those schonls
of secondary level which st gsome time or ansther wers under
the supervision or protection, direetly or indireetly, of
a8 religious denomination. The churehes of the past in
Kansas practically sssumed the functlon of secondary educa-
tion, and In certain denominations, particulerly the Homan
Catholic, and to a much lesser degree the Lutheran, this
continues to the present time. It is true that the etudy
embreces sane few academies whlch were unatteached, but thelr
inclusion is on the grounds of thelr purely academic nature
or historicsl value, In this conneetion, it is necessary
to call sattention to the fact that several of the Cethelie
high sdioels have ueen ineluded. The obvious resson ls that
they have a very definite religious connectlon and are
private in nsture. Even though these Cathollic schools
are distinctly modern, on & par with the publle high school
and Junior college, they in general possess much present
historical value, and those which have been included are
such as have, becauss of their instlitutlional history or
location, characteristic values felt to be pertinent to

this study.
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Another metter of much eoncern in the delimitation
of an ascademy's histerical significance tov this study
vas determining when a school was or was not an academy.
The schools obvisusly patterned after the old English and
New England scademies took on various names in Xansas.

They were called colleges, seminaries, institutes, normels
(in some instances), training schools, ete., and in some
cages universitiess In many cases the ascademlies were atbtached
to eolleges or grew Into colleges and thelr whole story, |
including some Iinformation a bout the lnstitution o whiech

they were attached, had to be Included to get the meademy's
pert of it. 1In other instances grede or paroehisl schools

or grade academies grew into full fledged acsdemies,

Those sechools of secondary level of 8 very specisl
nature are not included in this study., Exanples of these
being training schools for nurses, novitiates, menasterles,
normal sechools, (with the exeception of these Included for
gome other reason, consistent with the study, than that
they were normal scheols), Blble sehools, mission schools,
{social settlement, ete.} Also such schools as had an
existence of only & few months, and at that, moestly “"on
paper”, are left out entirely.

It remains then but to undertake some central

statement reciprocating the 1limiting factors in this paper
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as sdumbrated in the foregolng paragrapha. Perhaps a few
short statements will do it, with their exceptions,”of course:

The people of Kansas from sarllest ploneer days
established secondary schools generally but not always called
acedemles. +liese schools were roally the direct predecessors
of our modern high schools of the state, These academies
were adminiztered and supported prineipally through church
organizations, 4An examinstion of the essentlal historieal
farts concerning a large part of these schools 1z the theme
of this study.

The writer pauses a moment in conclusion to reeall
not only the mueh appreclated suggestions but also the deep
interest in the subject of this research of the late Willis
H. Carothers, formerly of the faculty of the Department of
Education, at Teachers College, Emporia, Acknowledgement
of the valuable asalstance of Dr., Edwin J. Brown in editing
the chapters of this manuscript 1s gratefully glven.

Virgll E, durt
Emporla, Kansas

April 10, 1935



CHAPTER I
ATLEYN COUNTY

The Geneva Academy: Thls mcademy was founded in

18661 at Geneva, Kansas, and its last report mede to the
United States Commlssioner of Education was in 1379.2

It had been the Intentlion of the founders of the
Geneva Colony to establish a large non=sectarian college and
academy. For financial and other reasons, the college was
never organized, nor were any bulldings te house 1t construct-
ed. The Geneva Academy was the out«growth of the original
plan. The colony of setilers precured notes and cash on a
subscription basis in the amount of $2000,00 and the town
company of (eneva, a eommon form of early Kansas town organ-
izatlon, donated twenty-six acres of Geneva town lots. In
1866, an academy hoard having been chesen, they purchased
a bullding at the time being used for hotel purposea,:;nd
employed one David Smith to head the inatitution.s Beginning
with 1874, in addition te the usual academle subjects, drawing

1
C. P. Scott, History of Allen~Woodson Countles (Iola:
Iols Register, 1901): Ps 71, B :

5 v
Report of the United States Commissioner of Educatl
for 1880 (Jashington: Govarnment Publishing Gfflce, 1881),

P

Pe 556 -
3
C. F. Seott, loc. cit.
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and music were taught.? The enrollment and number of teach=
ers for various years as reported by the United States Commis-
sioner of Educatlion, are: 1874, one hundred students, two
instructors;s 1876, no report; 1877, twenty-five students,
two teachers;a 1879, fifteen students, one instructor.’ In
1867, the college erected a two-story school building8 paying
for it with what cash and notes the academy board then held
end an equity 1nvolving the hotel bullding and elghty acres
of town 1ots.g The funetions of the academy, after 1879,
were taken over by the'public schoel system, Mr. W. J.
Bradley who now resldes at Neosho Palls, Kansas, was the

last chalrman of the Board of Managers of Gsneva A@adamy.la

& Report of the United States Gommissioner of Bducation
for 1878 (Wasbhlngton: Government Publishing OUffice, %5755,
D. 411. - _ e

5 Loc. olt.

8
Report of the United States Commissloner of Educatien
wes

for 1874, ngton: GCovernment Publlshing Offlce, 1875),
Pe I;_,:;,

7
Beport of the United States Comuisglioner of Educatlion

for 186C, iuT. ik, |
e

Ce P. Scott, Iola, Kansas, Personal Letter, Dee., 18,

1935.
Loe. ¢it.

e Leslie T. Smith, Geneva, Kansas, Personal Letter,
Dec. 1, 1935.




CHAPTER XX
ATCHIBOR COUNTY

Midland College: Thim school and its academy were
founded September 15, 1887 at Atchison, Kanses under the
auspices of the local United Lutheran Churehs’ The sollege

wag under the special care and patronage of the Evengelieal
Iatheran Chwreh, but was not a strietly sectarian institu-
tion, It was designed to be distinetly Christian. m; 1895,
a Theologleal Seminary Department was added and salled
"Western Theological Seminary.,"@ The early curriculum of
the school consisted of what the faculty chose to call "men~
tal and moral sciences®™: English Liﬁaratuye, history,
Greek, Latin, mathematics, natural scilence, CGerman, French,
elocution, and art.3 The academy department conneected with
this college in 1888 enrollsd forty students and employed
six :ms1:x~1:v;~:.tau-s.‘t In 1918 the property of the college con=

1 Report of the United States Commissioner of Educatlon

for 1888~ ashingtont Uovernment Publishing Orfice,
'IB’Q’Q), Ple 1108-11089.

2
Midland College Bulletin, Vol. XVI (No. 6, Atchison:
April 1, 1918}, p. .

3
¥inth Piennial Report State Superintendent of Pub-
lic Instruction: Kmas'l%’.’fﬁﬁﬁ"(i‘ope%s Hamilton Print-
Ing Company, 1895), ps 177,

4 Report of the United States Commissioner of Educa-
tion for 'IBS'B':IBW, 1oc,. clib.
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sisted of five buildings and a twenty~five acre campus valued
at $175,000.° Contributory support of the college came
through tultion and in 1893 students in the asademy paid $30
per year while thoss in the sollage paid $40 per yeaxx-.s
Part of the operation expenses of the sehools were met by
a small endowment which had, in 1918, reached the amount of
$90,000,7 At the time of the organizatien of the sollege
and ite academy, the olly of Atehison gave $50,000 in cash,
thirty acres of lmnd, = half interest in the sale of five
hundred acres of land, and promised twe hundred studsnts for
the first yenr.s The whols sehoel plant was purchesed in
1919 by St. Benedict's College and is eonducted es "Maur Hill
School for Boys®. 9 v

Mount Saint Secholastica: This school was founded
at Atchisen, Kansas in 1865,1°9 Tnis academy was foundsd by

® Midland College Bulletin, loe. cit.

llinth Biennial Repor
lic Instruction: X’Ensaa 2

7 ¥idland College Bulletin, los. eit.

8 Ibidu, Po 9

¢ Ra ds 50111g of Gatholic Edusation in
Kansas 1836«1932 (St. Me maf “The “Abbey Fress,
M}, P¢ &

10 : v , oy
Thirteenth Biennial Report S8tate Superintendent
of Publie Instruction: Kansas &ELW(’fopeka: State
Frinting G’i‘ﬁee‘,'m% PDe J0-102+
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the Catholie Order of the Benedletine Sisters, whose mother-
house at that time, was at Sti Cloud; Minnesota, for the
purpose of edusating girls. - "In the begimning the curri-
culus of studies at Mount Saint Scholastics wes comprised
of verious branches required for libersl edugation" %

These include primary, zimparatory, and academy departments,
In 1877, the present lccation of academy was purchuedgm
In 1889 2 new academy bullding was erected and in 1900 &
new convent and chapel were erected, In 1923 Junior Cole
lege work waes added to the eurrieulum. &t the present time
Mount Saint 8cholastica offers senier college work which is
fully sceredited by the State Board of Education and the
University of Kensag. % s in most Catholie convent schoels,
& uniform is required of the students. -+hig consists of

a one-piece dress, plain blagk wool material, with a high
neck, sleeves reaching to the wrist, and skirt mot oo short,15

11 mnirteenth Biemnisl Report, loc. eit.
12 R, J. Bollig, op. eit., ps 42.
13 1bid., p. 50, |

4 1bid., pp. 51-58.

15 yount Saint Scholastica's Academy (Atchison: cata=-
log number, 1982)s Ps Ils
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In 1928 Mount Saint Scholastice had seven btmildings and a
thirty-elght acre sampus 28 gnis school preserves the fin-
est traditions of the anecient Benedlectine Order in holding
up a8 a constant aim that "education embraces net only ine
telleectual training, but adds to 1t the development of the
heart and soul”.l7 The currieulum is thoroughly modern in

every way and ineludes, of eourse, religious instrvetion.
Saint Benediet's College: St. Bemedict!s College is

located at Atchison, Eansas and was founded by Father Augus-
tine Lenke of the Benedictine Order em October 12, 1859,18
The purpose of the college was to be the education of worthy
priests and laymen.l? The original plot of ground on whieh
the college was established was donated by a Mr. Btring-
fellow of Atchison.20 The currieulum in 1859 included Latin,
English, arithmetic, geography, algebra, astronomy, and some
grade school work, 7This shows that the early studies were of

16 wi114am E. Gomnelley, Histor
American Historical Soelety, Inc.,

of XKesnsas, 1l (Chicago:
'), pp. 1080-1081,

17 Mount Saint Scholasticals Academy, op. git., p. 5.
18 Tnipteenth Biezmial Report, op. ¢it., pp. 38-39,.

19 r, J. Bollig, op. cibt., P. 44.
20 1pid., pp. 43-44.
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grade and secondary level rather than college as the name

of the school indicaites. This condition occurred in most

of the early "ecolleges" which were really academies in their
early years. From this early level of the academy type of
curriculum, the school has developed to contain such modern
subjects as are scattered among the follewing belng offered:
anatomy, astronomy, biology, botany, chemistry, economics,
edueation, English, engineering, drawing, French, geology,
German, Greek, history, Latin, library science, mathematics,
musie,phllosophy, physical education, physies, religion,
socliology, and Spaniah.gl The philosephy of the school in
recent years stands half way between broad electivism and
rigild conservatism in eurriculum content. The schools are,
the College of Liberal Arta and Secleneces, the School ~f
Theclogy, the Academy, and the Maur Hill School for Boys,
which is a grade and junior high sehool department .22

The campus of the eollege is on the hills overlooking the
Missouri River.23 The growth of the college 1s reflected in
the bullding program., The first building, a two and a half

<1 Thirteenth Biennial Report, loe. ¢it,

22 R. J. Bollig, op. clt., D. 44.
23 Ibid., pp. 43-44.
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story brick structure, whieh was both the monastery and the
college, was erected in 1881, Part of the expense of build-
ing this building was met with a gift to the college of
$12,000 by King Louis of Bavarias.®% In 1865 the Abbey Church
was erected, In 1878 a new monastery was bullt and then
later enlarged in 1883: In 1919 8t. Benedliet's College
purchased Midland College ‘for the sum of #&1’,@90 and cone
verted it into Maur Hill Baaraing 8chool for Boys. Sinece
1922 the college has erected a gymmasium and St, Joseph's
Hall and a dormitory mccomodating sixty boys.. In 1927 work
wes started on a new group of buildings comprising sm Abbey
Chapel and a library.%° The chief source of eurrent income
is tuition,Z6

24 R, J. Bollig, loc. cit.
25 Ibid., pp. 39-40,

26 paucation of Worthy Priestd and laymen of St., Bene-
dict's ColTege (Atenison: Catalog ﬁ'\inber,'.’&%?.?f,?.'&
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CHAPTLER IIX

BARTON COUNTY

ggntral Normal College: Thla c¢ollege was established
in 1888, It was a development of the independent type school,
andlseam& to have done some preliminary work and may have
conducted some c¢lasses in 1887. It followed eclossly the plan
of the Fort Scott Normal Scheol, in fact, a8ll of its orig=-
inal instructors were gradustes of the Fort Scobt Normal
Sechool, The school was originally orgefiized under the ause
pices of the Congregational Church of Great Bend, Kanaang
In 1897-1898, %the currieulum whilch experlenced the usual
evolution from secondary +to college-lsvel, lncluded physl-
ology, history, mathematlies, natural sclence, economles,
pedagogy, BEnglish, Greek, Latin, business college depsrtment,
German, and music.d Apparently, the school did not 1aak for
enrollment. In 1888 the enrollment was two hundred aight*y-e
four, in 1889 it grew to three hundred fifty~ene,4 and dwindled

Eleventh Bilennial Report State Superintendent of
Public Instructlien: ‘Kansaé“T8§7:i§§§‘TTopaka- State Printing
Office, 1898), p. 98+

. Columbisn Hilstory of Education In Kansaa (Topeka:
Press of Hamllton Printing COa.s; 1B00), De

Bleventh Bilennlial Report, loc. clt.

j
% Columblen History of Education in Kangas, loc. clt.
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to two hundred nipety-six in 1897 with a faculty of sixteen.s
The campus of fifteen aecres and the varilous bulldings were
valued at $25,000 at the time of organizastion.® In 1898,
the buildings and grounds were valued at $26,000, The current
source of income was through tultlion and the amount of tultlion
wat $45,00 per year per studant.7 The school was discontlinued
on June 9, 1902.°

Immgculaste Conception High School: Immaculate Concep-

tion High School was established on September 9, 1902 by the
Cathollie Order of The Dominlcan Sisters. When first estsb-
lished the school included elementary and high school courses
for both boarding and day pupils. In 1928, the high school
was fully acecredited by the State Department of Edﬁcatlon—
The school is now conducted as a high school fbr novices and
postulants, The bulldings and grounds were purchased from
the Central iormal College in 1902 and when the Immaculate
Concoptlon High School opened in September of that year 1t

had an enrollment of twenty~elght which has increased to

S Fleventh Blennial Report, loc. elt,

Columbilan Liistory of Zducatlion 1in Kansas, loc, git.

Zleventh Bilennlal Report, loc. cit.

Columblan History of Education in Kansas, op. cit.,

Ps 93«
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9
arourd seventy 1in 1935, This school continues in excellent

standing educatlonally at Great Bend, the place of its found-
ing.

o Re. J. Bolllg, History of Catholic HZducatlon in
Kansnas 1836-1932 (St. MeInrad, IndTana; The Abbey Press,
Y ppl 92‘930




CHAPTER IV
BOURBOR QOUNTY

Fort Scott Normal College: This school was esbabe
lished in 1878 by Mrs:-I. €, Scott as a private enterpriﬁmi

This was the first and most important of the independent
normal colleges in Kensas: All of these schools included
the sccondary lewsl curriculum to aome extent. Ths effect
of the Fort Secott Normal College upon Kansas education,
both through its graduates and its example, is an import-
ant chapter in early Ksnsas educetionsl history. 7The cours
seg in this school were s0 arranged that each year the stu~
dent completed one of the minor couwrses and received a di-
ploma. The total course of study required four years for
cwplstion.a Greek, Latin, metaphysies, higher mathematies,
science, grammar, arithmetie, United States History, pm-
manship, algebra, bookkesping and geography were some of
the courses %aug‘nta.& The entire expense of this school was
met by charging tultion at the rate of $1.00 per week. %

In 1885, the property of this school had an estimated value

l
First and Seeond Biennial Report of state Superin-
tendent of Pubilc JInstruction: Kansas 1877-1878 [To pe%a-
Ransas Publisbing House, 1B81), DDs S29-330.

2 columbien History of Education in Kanau (Topeka:
Press of Hamllton Printing CGompany, 1893), De

5 pirst end Second Biennial Report, loc. cit.
4

Columbisn History of Education in Kansas, loe. cit.
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of #20,000.5 In 1888 a new main building was ereoted.® .
Hotre Deme de Ioudres Academy: This academy was
established in 1901 at Fort Seett, Kanaas,v and opened in

September, 1902.8 it was a Catholle¢ school offering the
usual courses of grade and high school level bypicél of the
period and was conducted under the ausplees of the Sisters
of St., Joseph, Their motherhouse was in w1@h1t5,9< It

was assisted by the church and by tuition, In 1901, the
value of the bulldings amounted to $30,000, It was discon-
tinued in 1908s *he cause of discontinuange was lack of .

patronagealQ

S pifth Biennial R egoxg of Stata
Public Instruetionz Kansas
IIshing House, 1B56),PpP. 1456-146

6 Pirst and Second Bionnial,ﬁqpoxt,~lag. elt,

7 Golumbien History of Education in Kansss, op. eit.
Ps 99. ‘

8 ' na 4
R, J. Bollig, His of Catholic Education in
Kansas 1836-1932 (8%, rﬁ% dTana: The Abbey Press,

m P
9 pirst and Segond Biennial Report, op. cit., p. 91.

0 Columbian History of Eﬂuaationigg_ﬁﬁnsaag op. ¢lt.,
P« 91, B S ' '



CHAPTER V
BROWN COURTY

Hiawathe Academy: This school, located st Hiawatha,

Kansas, was a non-sectarian institution under the control of
a board of trustees made up of cltizens of Brown Counby, and
was founded in 1887 and opened for the reception of students
in September 11, 1888.1 1In 1902, the Hiawatha Academy Board
amended 1ts by-laws in such manner as to permit the sc¢hool

to come under the supervision of the American Baptist Educa=
tional Soelety who were instrumental in increasing the endow=
ment of the school a ver# congiderable smount with John D,
Rockfeller as one of the substantlsl donors to the fund.
Under the new arrangement, the scheol was deslgmed te abttaln
practical Christian objectives and smbrace in the mcope of
its work the so-called secondary level of education.? The
original endowment, amounting te $20,000, was inecreased by
popular subscript10n3 and the good offices of the American

Baptist Educsatlonal Scolety, when the school came under its

1 Phe Hiawatha Aeademy Record, Catalogue Vol.IX
(Hlawatha: Hiawatha Academy, Hpe 1, 1915), pp. 6-10,

2 Columblan History of Education in Kansas (Topeksa:
Press of Hamllton Printing CoOWpAny, 1893), D» 87s

S The Hiewathas Academy Record, loc. cit.
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supervision and control., The toial amount of endowment
reached finally the amount of $60,000, The Honorable
Needham Horrill, the president of the Board of Trustess and
principal contributer to Hiawatha Academy was preeminently
the father of the institution, He held the office of Presi-
dent of the Board of Trustees until 1909, the date of his
death. The academy builldings were located on & beautiful
ten-acre campus adjacent to the town of Hiaswatha, ‘he prine
cipal buildings consisted of three brieck structures on the
academy campus and comprising the main bullding with its class-
rooms and suditorium, Hoover Hsll, a student dormitory, nsmed
after its donor, Mrs, lMahala Hoover, and the President's
residence, an attractive bmilding ereeted in 1808. All bulld-
ings were equipped with modern heating and plwbd.ng-.."‘ In
April, 1915, the Board of Trustecs of the academy company.
held a special session to discuss the matter of closing the
academy.s A voluntary dissolution of the company was ordered
end the assets of the institution were dlvided so as to be
in full accordance with the terms of varlous bequests made
the institution by its benefactors., Ottawa University, of
Ottawa, Kansas was given $15,000 in ecash in recognition of
the moral obligation of Hiawatha Academy to the Beptist Edu-

4 The Hiewatha Academy Record, loe. eit.

5 Frenk N, Morrill, Hiawatha, Kansas, Personal Letter,
November 15, 1934.
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cational Soclety. All of the real estate and buildings be~-
longing to the academy were turned over to School Distriet
Ho. 4 of Brown Gounty, Kansas, upon condition that these as~
sets and real estate be used forever for school purposes only.
In the year of the schoolfs closing, there were twelve inw
structors and about one hundred fifteen students: The cour-
ses offered were those typical of our modern high schools
with the exception of some emphasis placed upon religious in-

shrnetion-s

6 The Hiawatha Academy, loc: ¢it.




CHAPTER VI
BUTLER COUNTY

Brumbach Academy: This schosl, lecated at Eldorado,

Kansas, was founded in 1895 by lrs, Nora Brown Brumbas ehl

in & building which 1s still standing and wesed for one af
the eity buildings.z The grades taught were from the eighth
to the tenth inelusive and Included gollege prepsratory and
commerclal subjeets, The scheosl had the sdditlonsl feature
of operating the year around. Willlam ¥, Benson, Frank
Dodge and A. Js Holdermen were among the principal boesters
for the academy at its organizetion. The zchoel opensd with
an original enrollment of eight studentss® The school was.
non-gectarisn and it i1e said that &t one time, approximately
half the teachers of Butler County were former students ol
this academy. The achool was closed, according te Superine
tendent J. W. Murphy of the Augusta Public Schoolsy in 1900,

17 v, Murphy, Superintendent of Schoels, Eldorado,
Zansas, Pers:mel Letter, 1928,

£ noc. cit.

5 Philip Higdon, County Supserintendent, Eldorado,
Kansag, Personel Letter, November 28, 1034.




CHAPTER VII
CHEROKEE C/UNTY

Lowell Polytechnie Institute: Lowell Polytechniec

Institute, commonly known as Lowell Acsdemy, opened its
goors to students in 18928. It was founded by W, B. Morgan,
a gracduate of Earlham Collage, Indiena, and ninety-two
memberz of the “pring Hiver Quarterly Meeting ol Friends,
to correct the existing poor opportuniities of the cormmmnity
for secondary education. The Lowell Eduestion Ald Soeclety
was organized to foster the projeet of %his new academy.
The institution maintained a fully sceredlited four-year
secomd ary ecurrieulum, sand the graduates of this schosl wers
admitted by diploma to the University ef Eanaasal The
buildings were erected from subseriptions of work, labor,
materials and monay by the people of the settlements. Run-
ning expenses were met by tultion charges of $27,50 per year.
Two bulldings were originally erected whose valuatlon in

1901 was $é,500.2 The campus contalined twenly aereﬂas

1 k. E., Stonecipher, "What the Friends Gave to Educa-
tion in Kensas."” The Gleaner (Pittsburg, Kensas: Kansas
State Teachers CoIlege, 1954), Vol. Vil, p. 19,

2 rhirteenth Blenniel Report of State Superintendent
of Public Instruction: Kensas %§5I*I§b§ (Topeka: TLopeka
State Prinﬁal’, 19025’ PD- 96"980 .

S5 Loc. eit.
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This school was under the inmediate supervision of the Grand
River Quarterly Meeting of Priends who were closely assoclated,
but not to be confused with, the Spring River Quarterly Mest-
ing, the latter being under whose supervisien Spring River
Academy was founded. A joint board of directors of the two
bodies administered Lowell Polyteehnie Institute. The first
princlpal of the school was Pliny E, Goddard, He had two
assistants and sll three were gradustes of Earlham College,
Indisna. Hnrollment ran at first about one hundred, but

graduelly dwindled until the sachool closed in February, 1904.

Spring River Academy: "Quaker Valley", six miles west

of Galena and six miles north of ﬁaxter_Springs, Kansaé wa s
the scene of the loecation of Spring River Academy, sometimes
called "Stone Acsdemy". This school was fuundeé.by the
Soclety of Friends in 1879.% This brench of Quakers desired
to provide uvetter secondary education opvortunities for

the young people of their community.5 The aecndemy consisted
of three departments~-primery, intermediate, and scademlc.
There was a continuous religious influence in all three de-
partments of the school. This acsdemy possessed one bulld-
ing valued at $2,000 which was used for both echurch and

school. The campus conslsted of twenty acras.a The orlglonal

% Tpid., pp. 93-102.

S fpowell Academy History." The Gleaner, op. clt., D.3.

6 Thirteenth Biennlal Report, p. 94.
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structure, used as an academy, was the meeting house with the
loft remodeled tu aceomodate the literary study groups of the
academy. There existed considerable discusslion znd self=
educetion in the sarly group from which davelnpaé such leasders
as Erasmus Haworth, later a geologlst of importance at
Xensas Universlty, Cyrus W. Harvey, and others.? The efforts
of thls school were gradually absorbed by Lowell Acsdemy,
its friendly neighbor.

7 Ipid., pp. 93-102.



CHAPTER VIIX
C1.0UD COUNTY

Miltonvale Wesleyan College: The college was founded

1n 1909 by the Wealeyan iethodists of the mlddle-~west who
felt that they desired a school where their youth might re~
celve an eduecation under the influencz of their own church;l
The school c¢onsists of a four-year acsdemy, twe years of
collegs, which has not as yet bLeen accredlted, and a three-
year theologlcal seminary course;2 The courses of the
school follow eclosely those outlined by the state depart-
ment of education with the exceptlion that Bible study 1s
added trrouchout. The school startsd off at the time of
its firat opening wlth an enrollment of approximately one
hundred in all of 1ts departments: The chlefl inducement
for the location of this school gt Miltonvale game from the
fact that the Tootle estate granted the school a gener-

pus gift of land for campus purposes and the town of
Miltonvale contributed §12,000 for the erectlon of a bull-
ding. The women's missionary soclety of the Kaj sas Con=

ference of Wealeyan Hethodists 1n 1812 buillt what is called

1
iiltonvale College Bulletin Vol. XV, Fo. 3 (Mil~
tonvale, Kansas 1080-1951), DDs B0~82 o

2 g, Floyd Hester, President Miltonvale College,
Pesonal Letter, Dec. 22, 1934.
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the Ladles'! Hall or Abbott Hall at the cost of $10,000
and gave 1t tothe college. Thls later was supplemented
by the purchsse of a residence property adjacent to ‘the
campus and whieh is known as Hill Crest Cottaiges Other
than the sources of iIncome derived from its church eon=
nection, Miltonvale College has received some private en=
dowment funds and charges tultion to all students.” The
College consists of these thres bulldings sbove mentioned

and 1s located on a ten=acre campus4

adjacent to the vile
lage of Miltonvale, which town 1s on the Superior; Heb=
raska branch of the Santa Fe Rallread;, as well aszs a divie
sion_ef the Union Pacifles The rules or requirements as
to conduet of students ineludes such regulations as

elbow length dresses for girlsy, the forbldding of move
ing pilcture shows to all students, the prohibiting of
football and otier interscholastic games, and requlring
boys and men to wear full-length trouscrs in all intrae-
murial athletics,

Nazareth Agademy: The Fazareth Academy was Teunded

in Concordia, Kansas in the fall of 1884 by the Catholie
Sisters of St., Joseph of Rochester, New York. The Sisters
came first to Newton, Kansas in 1883 and took charge of the

3 Wiltonvale College Bulletin, ope elt., pps 16-17

4 Ibid., p. 18.
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local parochial soﬁe@l, but were sent on ko Concordia in
1884 end took charge of Nazareth Academy which was ghare
tered by the State of Kansas, October 21, 1884, The school
included a primary department in which grade subjects were
taught, and a four-year academy course typieal of the high
schools of the same period., They also gave a Lwo-yesr come
S The boarding school was moved t¢ Salina
in 1922 mccording to Bollig,® According to Sister Mary
Clecphas, the new boarding school in Salina ig now known as
Marymount Academy, In 1906 normal training was added to the
list of studies in the acsdemy and in 1907 college courses
were offered. The academy was maintained through tultion

and boarding school fees paid by pupils, as well as by
7

merclal course.

bequests and donations.
buildings valued at $16,000 and a forty-acre campus,

The academy property consists of

5 sister Mary Cleophes, Persenal Letter, January 31,

1935.

4 When the Sisters of St. Joseph came to Concordia,
the diocese of Isavenworth comprised the whole territory
of Kanses and thus they were under the jurisdiction of the
Bishop of Leavomwrtha When ths Leavenworth Diocese was
divided in 1887, Concordia was made the seat of a new dio-
cese to which t}w Sisters then belonged.

{(R. J« Bollig Histgg of Cstholie Education in Kan-
sas 183_6-195§. St. l’(e &d, Indianas e Abbey rress, 1033,

Ds 59_:7_ »
7 amirteenth Blennisl Report State Superintendent of

Public Instruction: m ‘opeka: OState Printer, 1902)
Pp. 93-I0Z2.




CHAPTER IX
COFFEY COUNTY

Western Chrlstisn University: Four miles north of

Burlington, Kansas, & settlement was formed and a town site
lald out 1n February 1860 by & group of sebttlers from Ottumwa,
Iowa. These people named thelr new town for the city of the
same name from whieh they had emigrateé.l The strongest
church organlzetion in the Otbtumwa community was the Method-
ists Episcopal Chureh, which decided to build a school to

be celled Methodiet University. They wére sueccesaful in
raising some funds, and & foundation for the bullding was
started with appropriste ceremonles in 1862. The tuilding
wag to Le of brick and stone and the walls were up elight or
ten feet when the other leading relipglous denominetion of the
communit;, the Christian Chureh, having secured the services
of a very able evanglist and"singing women", conducted such

a suceessful series of meetings in the community es to prose-
lyte most of the Methodlst membership ineluding the trustees
.of the proposed Methpdist University. The bosrd of trustees
was re-organized in the beginning of 1883, the MWethodlat's
foundation of the bullding torn down &nd a new bullding

complected at & cost of $8,000 under the auspices of the

1 ¢, B, Osborn, Superintendent of Echools, Burlington,
Xansas, Personal Letter, November 13, 1934.
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Christian Conventlon and the new school was named Western
Christian University. The Reverend J. M, Rankin was employed
to operate the 1nst1tution, end a ecurriculum ineluding the
ordinary secondary eourses preparatory for college were
taught ratier ably until 1867.2 The number of students
varied around the ore hundred twenty«five mark, and up until
1866 the organization handled the loeal grade school fer
District Yo, 2, Coffey County which aided somewhat an other-
wise very meeger income, ur, Rankin left the school at the
close of the scheol year of 1866.to become the head of the
newly erected grade school and by the elose of the school
year of 1868, Mr, NI, Dunshes was forced to close the school
on account of 1ts financlal embarrassments,® The rivalry
of two pbysieaAa, Dr. David Owin and a Dr. Jenks resulted
In a division within the Christian Church organigation of
the community which dlsagreement had as one of its outcomes,
the =2mle of the college bulldlng on mortgage foreéiosura»
Drr« Gwin seems to have gained the upper hand in the argument
and his board of trustess employed Mr, John McCrocker to
open the school again. The building burned In August before
the proposed opening in September and Western Christlan

University beeame but a memory irn Coffey Cuuntye4

Te Ba OSbDPn' locs clt,

3 Loc. clt.

4 (#rs.) H, H. Klock, Strawn, Kansas, Personal Letter,
October 29, 1934.
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In the fall of 1884, an attempt was lmunched to

establish an iInstitutlion of higher learning in Burlington,
Coffey County. A Mr. J. ¥V, Coombs of Illinois who came to
Burlington in August of that year was the active promoter
of the enterprise. Business meh of the town subescribed te
the erection of 2 bullding, and a foundatlion was sterted. The
work was dropped when funds were exhausted. 4 bond lssus, in
81id of the project came to & vobte June 18, 1885 and failed
by three votes to carry in the election. This was the last

attempt =t founding such a school in Ceoffey Oounty.5

5 p, ®, Osborn, loc. clt.

s



CHAPTER X
COWLEY COUNTY

Saint John's College: This institution was founded
in Winfield, Kansas in 1893 under the supervision of loeal

8ynod of the Lutheran Chursh, but doés not owe i1ts origin

to any action of that Synod.* St. John’s Golloge was built
by one man, Mr, John Peter Baden, a merchsant of Winfileld,
Kanses, who was borm in Elsdorf, Hanover, Gemaxw,z and who
came to the United States in 1866 and became a c¢itizen of
this country: He bought the ground and built the achoolts
first building ealled Baden Hall, at his own expense; having
in mind an institution which would teac¢h the succeeding
generations of Americans of German sncestry in Xansas, the
tenets of the Lutheram ereed and prépare ministers for their
profession. Bchool was opened in the fall of 1893 in tempor-
ary quarters in town, but by Msrch 1, 1894, Baden Hall was
solemnly dedlcated and the building formally oeeupied. The
school had & great deal of trouble securing finaneial sup-
port up until May, 191l-~almost going out of existence due

1ar o T W
: 8t. Johnt's Iutheran College, "infileld, Kansas
(Catalog Fo. 1956-1927, Winfield: Courler Pub 115hing Co.,
1926), Dpp. 12«15,

2 §, Stoeppelwerth, "History of St. Jobn's English
Lutheran College, Winfield, Kansas." Concordia Historical
Institute Quarterly, Professor W. G. Polack, editor, Vol. 5
(ST, Louls: January, 1933), pps 131~137. ,
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to the fact that its source of revemme was prineipally cen=
tered 1n the continued contributions of Mr. Baden. However,
at his death, the full force of the school situation came
to the attention of the Delegate Synod of the Lutheran Chursh.
and a definite income was established for the school by this
body. The school started in 1803 with twelve students and
roge gradwally in enrollment to one hundred in 1900, and then
decreased gradually until 1909,° The btetal envollment at
that time was seventy. However, the enroliment of this
school gradually inecreased them frem 1911 to 1926 t6 two
hundred fortysthree students of which one hundred thirtys
seven were ministerial s'mdentw Howevery due to the open~
ing of an academy of the dsnw:mahion in Austin, Texas, the
number has gradually decreased to the present, where the
enrollment stands at about one hundred forty-five, with prage
tically half of the students in trsaining for the minlstery.
The finanecial status af the sehool has been very sound since
1911 and the school has been able o add several bulldings
and considerable acreage to its real estate holdings and
outside of faculty residences which are owned by the eollege,
there have been erected a dormitory, gymnasium and power

St. John's ILutheran College, Winfleld, Kansas
{Catalog Fo. IDBB-1986, Winfiéld: Courler Tshing Co,,
1926), pp» 13-14.
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plant in addition to the original Baden Hall, msking a scheol
plant whose total value is scmewhere in the neighborhood of
$250,000. In addition to more whole<hearted support from the
8ynod and Lutheran Churches of the territory, the college
was 80 fortunate zs to strike a good preducing oil well on
its athletle field which has added materimlly to its income.
The curriculum has varied conasiderably through the years,
but in general it may be said that outside of some spe&ia.i
courses in Bible study and religious instruction; the courses
lead to graduation at about the same level as a junior cellege
with most of the emphasis, until later years on secondary
education: 8t., John's College was eoriginally organized under
the six~year plan of the German gymna-:lum;* This plan was
changed in 1920 to conform with a four-year high sghool and
a two-year junior college as nearly as its religious purpose
would permit, and the academy department has been fully
recognized and aceredited in Kensas.

Southwestern College Academy: This academy was for

years & department of Southwestern College, located at Wine
field, Kansas, and was founded in 1891 just six years after

‘47 Professor W. G, Polack, editor, Concordia Histori-
cal Institute Quarterly, Vol. VII {S8t. Louis: April X034],
p?‘ 24'520
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the founding of the college of which it was & part, It bhad
its largest enrollment in 1893 when it contributed epproxi-
mately half of the student body of the whole institution ine
cluding the 3011950.5 From 1895 %o 1913, the academy had an
average of approximately one hundred fifteen to one hundred
twenty students, and constituted substantially one-third of
the total enrollment of the whole institution, After 1913,
the enrollment dwindled ta twenby~five in 1917° when the
academy was disecontinued, the function of college preparation
having been completely sbsorbed by the publie high schoel in
the commmnity., About the only variation from the usual
purely c¢ollcge preparatory course for this academy wes same
instruction in religion in the earlier years. Southwestern
College at Winfield in 1923 had an endowment of one~half
million dollars, a campus of thirty~five acres, and seven
main buildings whish with the campus were valued at $460,000.7
This college is under the supervigion of the Southwestern

5 Columbian History of HEducatien in Ksnsas (Compiled
Kansas Educators, T0] T Press of Hamilton Printing Co.,
1893), p. 115,

& southwestern's History on & Page (Compiled by Wm.
7. Ward, I00L, Secretary Board ol Trustees, 1929).

Thirty-seventh Annual Catslog of Southwegtern
Golloge, m—? Y357 (WntTeld: WinPleld Fros Fress, 1925,
Ps
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Eanses Conference of the Methodish Episaopal Chureh.8

s 'I‘hir;%_ -seventh Annual Catalog of Southwesterm Col-
lege, 192




CHAPTER XI

DICKINSON COUNTY

Enterprise Norma)l Acsdemy: This school was established

in 1884 as the Harrison lormal School and was located at
Enterprise, Kansas‘l It had moat of the ideas and ldeals

of the other private normal schools of about that perled and
boasted a curriculum similar to the Fort Scott, Great Bend
and Morrill. In 1891 the school, dae to financial asdvere
sities and management troubles, same. under the sentpol of Lhe
United Brethern Denaminatiun.e The school has had s somewhat
chackered career, being originally founded by the ecltizens of
Enterprise, headed by C. Hoffman, E. T. Grossor, and J. Buchrer.
Tﬁe school passed into the control of the United Brethern in
1891, who, after unsucceasfully aﬁtemptiné to operate 1t, in
turn released the school teo the embirol of the German Metho-
dists Episcopal Chureh and this latter church maintained a
rather successful academy ir the premises untll theilr s=ale in

1918 of the institutlon to the Seventh Day Adventlists.> It

heg continued from 1919 under the supervision of thils latter

1
Report of the Unlted States Commissioner of Edu-
cation 18§§?T§§9 {7ashington; Government Publishing Office,

1g§§ ;, Ps 1@350

2 Enterprise Acedemy Calender 1923-1923 (Enterprlse:
Academy Press, 1923), p. 12%2.

u Ibid., p. 5.
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denomiration with the purpose of the school belng to traln
teachers and preachers in thelr own schools and for thwir
pwn people. Sinee the school is stranglykéeneminaéional,
the Bible and religlous dogma both have a very prominent
place In 1ts currleulum. Some religlous study 1s required
for every year of the academy course. For instance, the re-
quira& course for the first year is New Testament History;
for the second year, the 0ld Testament History and the
History of lissions; for the third year Deneminational Hise
tory and for the fourth year Doetrines. The only endowment
listed for this sehool is in 1896 when an anda%ment'fund of
$11,000 was ereated of which £7,200 was e¢entributed by the
German Méthgdiata Eplseopal Church of Entarprléa.‘bﬂb the
present time the school is supported by'tuitien fees and an
ingenﬁhusgpoup of scholarships which are granted for selling
a certaln number of rsliglous traets.4 The academy has a
campus of twent.-three acres on which are located five bulle
dings, the music hall, the scademy hall, the girls' dormitory,
the bo - s!' dormiteor, and the Prirclpal's home, The acadeuy
also possesses seventy acres of farm land which 1s worked to
aome extent by the students themselves.” The gcademy pro-
perty 1s valued at about {125,000. Regulatlions of this aca-

demy are the very strict and congerwative sort common to de=-

% 1v1d., pp. 40-41.

5 Columbian History of &mducablor in Kansas (Topeka:
Press of the Hanllton Printlng Comparny, 1895), DPs 6.
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nominational scheols where religlous tenets are of the Gai«
vinlstle type, such as; no boy may aceompany a girl on the
street or to public gatherings except by permission, going
down town prohibited except by permlssion, sports, plcture
taking, or pletures on Saturday prahibited, no Jewelry of
any sort permitted, stringent dress ragulatian, ete. The
enrollment in all departments averages about one hundred
twenty through the years,

Mount St. Joseph's Acedemy: The flrst school taught

by the Sisters of St. Joseph of Wichita was known 88 S5t.
Andrew's School at Abllene, Kansas, The school was ele=
mentery in character and had an attendance of forty puplls.

The Sisters next, in 1887, opened & parochial school In the

0ld church building which was moved near the new stone struc~l
ture. The Congregation ef the Sisters of St. Joseph of Wichitae
was founded in lMarch 1888, and under the advise of Bishop

Fink, & more advanced school serving as & convent for the

order was decided upon and built's The academy was acere-

7

dited by the State Board of Educatlon in 1880.° Antielpating

 ¢olumotan History of Educstion in Xensas, op. glt.,
P. 121l o -

7 R, J. Bollig, Iistory of Catholic Educatlon in
KXanses 1836-1932 (St. Weinrad, Indiana: Ihe Abbe, Press,
1933), Pe 60.
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the divlsion of the Kansas Diocese of the Catholle Church,
Bishop Fink of Leavenworth had the motherhouse of the order
transferred from Abilene to Parsons in order to keep the Sis-
ters in his Diocese. When the actual division took place,
however, laraoni was found to be in the #ilchita Dibcesa and
Bishop liennessey bought the o0ld Dutch-reformed Collsge campus
and bulldings at Wichita for use as a motherhouse for the
Slsters of 3%, Joseph. iHount St, Joseph Academy was closed
in 1914 when bought by Bishop Cunningham of Concordia, and
its furctlons transferred to Marymournt College, Salina,.
The sisters of t. Joseph of Co cordia turned tﬁa building ,
which formerly housed the institution,into an orphan asylum.
The academy ecurriculum Iincluded the usual English, Latin,
sciarce, iusle, art and commerece whiech commonly composed the

8 The

prircipal subjects of the academies of the perlod.
school was supported in the manner wsual to Cathollc academw
les. That 1s, tultlon fees and contributions of the parishe-
ioners comprlsed the means of current exlstence. The bull-
ding, which still stands on the west slde of the maln road
running north from Abilene and out a wmile or so from town,

is s four-story structure whilech orlginally cost $40,000.9

8 1vid., p. 260.

° Columblan History of Hducatlon In Kansas, loc. clt.




CHAPTER XIX
DONIPHAN COUNTY

Highland College: This echool is the outgrowth of

the misslonary efforbs of the Reverend Samel M, Irvin among

the Iowa and Sase Indians, The original mission bullding

which preceeded the building of the Highland Acsdemy and Collsge
was the dlreet result of this same Reverend Samuel M. Ivvints
efforts under the auspiees of the Forelgn Misalonary Bosrd

of the Presbyterian Church. In the year 1837, the Iowa,

cac and Fox Indlans came to what is now Doniphsn County, Kansas
by way of Rubedeaux Lnnding,1 a8 crossing of the lMissourl
River where the City of 5t. Joseph now stands. In 1845,

the Presbyterian Board of Commissloners fer Porelgn Missions
erected a bullding near what is now Highland, I&ﬁaﬂa*\thrﬁa
storles high, one hundred six feet leng and thirty-seven
feet wide with thirty-tws rooms, The firet story of this
building wae cut stone and the upper shtorles built of brick,
A1l the woodwork and lumber was shippsd from Flttaburgh,
Pennsylvania $o St. Josesh and heuled overland by ox teams,
The stone wag gquarried near Highland Stabion and the brick

made near the grounds of the misslon bullding from materiels

1 5. L, Howe, President Highland College, Highlend,
Xensas, Personsl Letter, January 10,1938. (ir. Howe's inferw
matinn was taven rrom & research theme wribtbten by Dean Dillon
of Highland, Xansas.)
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availeble there. This tuilding, the forsrunner of the present
Highland Collegze, was ready for occupancy in 1846&3 At the
time of the removal of the Sae, Fox and Ipwa tribes of Indlans
from Northeastern Kansss %o new reservaticns in Nebraska,
the town of Highlend was 1laild out by 2 Mre Js Pi fohnson with
the asslstance of General John Bayless: This was in the year
1855, This same Mr. Johnson later gave the Highlend College
an endowment of {20,000 which was enlarged by the townspsople
to 340,000-3 The scheosl received a charter on Pebruary 9,
1858 from the fansss Territorisl leglslature under the title
of Highland Univeraity Company, this being the first charter
of its kind to be granted in the territory of Xansas. The
trustees for the new school were: James C;mpboll, Walter
Lawrie, Curtis Graham, C« VanRessalaer, 2, M. Irvin, John
Bayless, and E, ¥, Cubbard. In 1888, due to the increase
in the number of students, & new building was begun Lv replace
f small f'reme structurs which hed been used up to this btime
and eczlled the Presbyterlsl Aeademy.4 The same thinge which
were true of bullding materials for the old misalon, were

true of the Highland College bullding whose cornsrastone was

2 J, L. Howe, focs elbe
5 Loe. cit,

4 Apehives of Board of Toreign Missions, Presbyberian
Crureh. {The college was organized under the Bosrd of Forelgn
Missions, not the Doard of Home ¥issions.)
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laid on May 11:~1359w5 In 1865 the final clesing of the
Indlan Misslon came ebout, and Reverend &, M. Irvin, who
had been in charge of its work throughout its existence,
devoted the remeinder of hils 1ife %o the interests of Highe
land Univepsitys The sechool was under the Highland Presbye
tery untll the yesr 1866, when it was transferved by an ach
of the leglslature to the Synod of Kansas. In 1882, bhe
Synod severed all reletionship with the (pllege execept zome~
firming the appolntment of trustees. The work done under
the currleulum ef the gollege from its beginning until 1870
was strietly ef the aaaénmié or secondary nature., Since
tﬁat time the work has Leen largely of the collegiate grada.

5 %1 think there is no reason why. the people here
should not rejoice over the laying of the foundation of &
university. Twenty«ome yesrs since, I ssaw a wer party of
Indians, painted and equlpped for warfare, passing over thia
very spot, shouting and rejolicing, returning from & successful
battle against thelr enemies, with sealps, heads, snd humen
limbs dsngling on poles. What 2 strange and wonderful sightl
Now how changed the scene--celebration todays Ve have assemble
ed to lay the cornerstone of & large university, the first in
the territory of Xansea, I ses no reasm why & Harvard of a
Yale college should net be built here., Ksnsss le now in its
infaney, feeble and helpless, yet the oblect of dispute
between two powerful contending pelities’ vartless In her
infancy she could have but little to say in the grest controw-
versy, but the time is not far distant when her volce and
influence will be heard and falt In the halls of Jegislation
and the world. RKansas, with ber nelghboring states and territor-
ies, has a mighty work te do in strengthening and holding togeth~
er this mighty republie.”

(Taken from the archives of the Board of Trustees of
Highland University Companye)
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The first degrees were given in 1878 apd thers srse now two
hundred sixty~eight alummi of the eolleges The courses uf
study are listed and elassified as aclentifie, literary,
normel and preparatory.® The college continues at the present
tlme as an aceredited junior colleges The sverage enrollment

throughout the years has eensistently ranged around seventy«

five in number.

¢ Courses of study were listed anﬂ'elaasifiad sclentl-

fically, literary, normal and prepsratory. The exact amount
-of endowment 1s unknown, but in 1886, the incoms of the college
was reported to the United States Commlssioner of Education
as being $1,500 from the endewment and 51,800 from tuition
feas. Ths college continues st the preasent time ss a Junior
college.



CHAPTER XIII
DOUGLASS COUNTY

Lane University: This school was established at

Lecompton, Kansas, in 1885 by Solomon Yeaver and named sfter
"Jim" Lane of Civil War fame.l It soon came under the control
of the United Brethern Church.® The institution was discon-
timmed in 1608 when 1t was consolidated with Campbell Univer~
sity at Holton whieh later consolideted with Kensas City
University of Kansas City, Xansas, now c¢losed. The course

of study was prinelpally academice in neture and included some
college ecourses such ag were taught in schools contemporary
with the institutlon's exlstence. OCond morals were apparent-
1y inslisted upon =md no seatgrianism taugﬁt¢5 In 18886,

the endowment is given at {20,000, The Income from thils
endowment is $1,200 and the inceme from tultlion fees 500,
00, The twvwtal value of the collegelproperty in 1892 was
about ;_;50,000.4 One interesting feature of thils old

3 Otterbrelsasen 1900-1901 (Lecompton: Published by
Cless of 1901, Lane uUniversity), pp. 4-5.

2 Report of the United States Commisslioner of Educa~-
tion 1888—1539 (Washington: Government PUDLLshing Office,
13889), pp. 1108-1109,

3 Golumbisn History of Hducetlon in Kansas (Topeka:
Preag of Hamliton Printing COMpADYy, L503), Ds De

4 Thlde, D» 95,
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school 1s the fact that 1t was located on the site of the
old Capitel of Kansas, in Lecompton.® There was a time when
the city had a pepulation of about 6,000, In 1900, the
school haed graduated one hundred five and had one hundred
thirty-elght enballed in the c¢ollege, musle, commercial,

and normal departments.®

Hesper Academy: The academy was founded in 1884 at

Hesper, Kensas, four wlles southeast of Ludora.' It was
established by the Soclety of Friends to prepare the students
for the actlve dutles of life, for teachimg, and for cellege,
and also te advance the cause of sducation, morals, ard relig-
ion.e The instltutlon, however, depended almost exclusively
upon the lncome from the tultions charged.g The academy was

conducted in a frame two-story structure, located upon a four

acre campus.i® The cost of the bullding was about $5,500.11

5 Columbian History of iducatlon In Kansas, log, git.

8 Harola C. Pisher, County Superlrtendent, Lawrencs,
Kansas, Perscnal Letter, November 209, 1934.

7 Thirteenth Blennial Report State Superintendent of
Public Instruction: ~Kansas 1§5§-I§02 (Topeksa: otete Printer,

Igﬁzy’ PP gs‘iaﬁ.

s“ggg. cit.

8 .
Columbian History of Education in Kansas, op. cit,,

D 133
10 phirteenth Blennial Report, loc. cit.

11 ¢o1lumblan History of Education in Kansas, loc. cit.
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The las® report to the United States Commissioner of Educa~-
tion was in 1904.1%

Baker University--Preparatory Department: Although
Beker Unlverslity was established in 1858, the preparatory
scademy was not orgasnized until 1888, The academy was dls-
continued in 1919 because the authoritles then felt that the
growth and improvement of the publie high scheools made t he
continuance of an ascadeny 1mpraet13a1.ls The anadeﬁy was
conducted solely as g preparatory school for Baker University
and carried the usuasl college preparatory aauraes,14 it
wes under the supervision of the Methodist Episcopal Church
g8 1s Baker University.

2 Annual Reports of the Department of the irnterior
Vol. 2 (wahington; Government Printing OFfice, L190B),pDs
2004-2005.

13 5, A. Deel, Reglstrar Baker Universlty, Baldwin,
Kansas, Personal Letter, Februasry 1, 1935.

14 golumblan History of Education in Eansas, op. cit.,

Pe 9l.



CHAPTER XXV
ELLIS COURTY

Girls Catholic High School: This school was estab-

lished st Hays, Kanses, in September; 1918 to provide secondw
ary education for Catholic girle egual to that Instruction pro-
vided for the Cabtholic boys of St. Joseph College. The school
was established through the efforts of the Reverend Pather
Dominie, pastor »f the St. Joseph Parish ab Hays and a church
committe® comslisting of Messrs: J:« B. Basgall; Joseph Bahl,
'Je He Simminge , John Jacebs, M. M. Schlyer, and Ai Ai Wlesw
ners The Slisters of Bt« Agnes of Fond du Lae, Michigang
were & shed He furnish teachers for the sechool and the first
teacher and principal wes Sister Mary Anthony of that order.
In 1919, one year after the establlishment of the school,

the courses taught were those ardinafily eonsidered as
college preparatory courses, bookkeeping, typaﬁriting

and acecountings: At the present time; the school consists

of & two-year Junior High School and s four~year Senlor High
School. Some 1dea of the development of the school may be
derived from the followling flgures as to the number of tea-
chersa sngaged« In 1918, the scheol had three instructors;

in 1928, 1% had five; in 1927, the number of teschers had
grown to sixy and at the present time, the faculty numbers

nine. The school i1s supported exclusively thrnugbétﬂktiﬂn
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and ald of the parish since tuiltien itself has not quite
covered the cost of maintaining the‘seham1 for several
yearss The housing of this scheol has proved quite & pro-
blem for those in contrel. The first yesar, the school met
in the Council Room of the Enights of Columbus Order, located
in the St. Joseph Parnchiel School. In 1922; the school was
transferred to a two-story frame building known ss the "Bice
Houma“al In 1931, the scheol purchased the old St. Joseph
College whose bullding they now use to house the Senlor High
Sdhaol for girls, and the Junior High School, the latter
sehool enrolling both sexes.® The éuhaﬁl’ﬁ newspaper "The
Tiefonian" hss a first-class honor rating with the Natlonal
Scholastic Press Association,

Saint Joseph's College:r Thils school was founded at

Hays, Kansas in 1893 &p provide a CGatholie school of second-
ary grade level for bonys in the territory about Hays, A
combination of crop failure and finsnelal stringencles foreed
the college to clese in 1885, but 1t was rawﬂpeneé Sa#tember
14, 1808 and has since expanded and grown unbtil 1t now 1ﬁcludes

1 Ruth Twenter, "Records of Girls' Catholic High
School®, The Teifonian, schoel newspaper, lays, Kensas,
December, 1934,

2 R, J. Bolllg, History of Catholic Education in
Xensas 1836-1932 (St. ideinrad, indlenss The Abbey rress,
S

19337, p. &
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college work as well as high school subjects. The ecllege
wos sstablished by the Bavarisn Capuching, a Catholle order.
In 1893, the subjects baught were religlon, Letin, English,
German, arithmetiec, algebra, United States history, geography,
bookkeeping, and penmanship. When the ¢ollege ras=bpened iﬁ
1908, all the subjects previously listed were teught and in
sddition, physlcs, elvil-government, penmanship, drawing,
shorthand, typewriting, and singing. A business night school
wag also conducted. Since 1908, the work of the school has
bsen extended mostly on the college level. 4t the present
time, the eourse includes pre~medlss, pre-engineering, pre-
theology, vocational agrieulture, commerce, and military
training., A new bullding was completed 4in 1930 at a cost
of $450,000 The scheol possesses only one bullding. The
0ld college tuilding erected in 1907 at a cost of $55,000
had been s0ld to the Hays Girle' Catholic High School.
Tuition and some {imanclal support by the Gépﬂphina Order

constitute the sole sourecs of 1ncome.3

S 1b1d., pp. 79-83.



HAPTER XV
FORD COUNTY

Jmnagulate Heart of Mary -High School: This sehool
is located in Windhorst, Kansas, and is typleal of the =
mpdern school fast replacing the 0ld academy type of organiw
sation yet vebaining the feature of religlous supervisions
This high school is one of the @at&wi&&» high uha@!m of the
Wichita Diccese.® - Immspulate Heart of Mary High School
wag m‘zmms.shea. in 1922 for the purpose of enabling Catho-
e fmuw of that vieinity te send their sons and daugh-
ters to a high school where they would receive education
under Catholic supervision, Miss Agnes Kelley of St. Louls,
¥igsouri was the tescher in 1922 and was succeeded in 19283
by the Order of the Sisters of the Most Precilous Blood.

The first school building used wes & residence formerly used.
by the Sisbers. In 1927, the present high school building
was erected at & eost of $40,000, fully equipped. The ourri-
culum offered by the sshool is the classical course a&s eub-
lined 4in the state course of study. As the school has only

e

- -

Re J* Ball:!.g maw ar atholie Educetion in

Kansas 1836-1932 (St. Ma!nmg, ; ¥ Press,
y D» & :,
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two full time teachers, the curriculum offerings asre varied
from year to year as the students' needs may indicates The
average enrollment is about thirtye~five. The school possess=
es only one bullding whiech includes within it & gymasiwmp,
museum, and library in addition to ¢lassrooms, 5Shis bullde
ing 1s located on a campus eight acres in size. <Ihe school
is supported by private tuition fees and comtinues in go«;
standing today.®

Seint Mary of the Plains Academys The academy was
establighed in 1913 at Dodge City, Kansas by the Cathelie.

Order of the Sisters of 8t, Joseph whose motherhouse is in.
Wichita, Kansas, The Catholic Sisters purchased the build-
ings and grounds of Soule College at a cost of t&,xin

1813 and established in these bulld
8t., Mary of the Plains., The enrollment was about twenty=
five puplls in the first year of the schoolts existence.
The course of atudy offered at the time the academy began

inga the academy called

sconsisted of preparatory, intermediate, and ascademic departe
menta, Since that time a normal training department and &
commercial department have been added, The academy is on
the approved list of the Kansas State Board of Education,

2 Loraine Torline, Béllefant, Esnsas, Personal Let~-
ter, February 22, 1935. ‘
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Its school of music is sceredited to the New England Conw
servatory of Music. Income of the sechool is through tuition
cherges and donations to the Order.° The story of the origin
of the property purchased by Reverend J. €+ Sullivany; Catho-
1ic paster of Dodge City in 1913 and now housing St. Mary of
the Plains Academy, is worthy of nobu'&*

Soule College: This academy was founded in 1887 at
Dodge “ity, Kaunsas and bullt with money givem by Mr. A+ T.

Soule who was an ac¢tive partieipant in mueh of Western
Eanses History, notably the Gray County, so called "County-
S8eat War." The school was conducted under the auspices of
the Presbyterian Chureh until 1891 when it was dlacontinued
because of the lack of inceome. In 1898 the school was
re-opened under the auspices of the Methedist Chureh; under
leadership of one Elder Vaughn, and was continued by that
denomination until 1902 at which time the college bulldings
were again abandoned and left standing empby uwntil 1913 when
the grounds and buildings were purchased by the Catholie
Church for use as a home for 8t, Mary of the Plains Acsdemy.
The srection of the college cost Mr. Souls $37,000 which

S R. J. Bollig, op. eit., pp. 95-96.
4 Ibiﬂﬁg Pp. 94~95,
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included the cost of the Administration Building, a dormi-
tory and gqulte extenslve grounds, inecluding an artificilal
lake. At no time during its existence was Soule College
entirely self-supporting. As 1s readily seen from the ceur--
ses offered, Soule College was rather more scadsmy than
college. It depended for income slmest entirely upen tule
1tion and thls was insufficlent,® Some of the subjects listed
as being taught In 1895 inecluded moral physiolegy, English,
Bible, normal trsining, Latin, Greek, natural sclence, plano
forte, orchestral and vocal music, stenography, typewrlting

and telegraphy.e

¥ e Ta Bollig, loc. clt.

6 | -

Ninth Blennial Report State Superintendent of Public
Instruction: Kansas 18933&933 {Topeka: Hamllton Printing
Company, 1895), pp. 1 63.




CHAPTER XVI
FRANKLIN COUNTY

Ottawa University Acedemy: This academy is lecated

at Ottawa, Kansas and was formerly a department of Ottaws -
University. Ottawa University itself was founded in 1866

and first chartered as Roger Williams University, The ac~
ademy feature of the university existed from the beginning
and was not discontinued until 1925, when the local high
school sbsorbed campletely the funetions of the aeadamwsl
Ottawa University was established as a joint enterprise

by the Baptists and the Indians. In the course of time

the control of the university passed entirely inteo the

hands of the Baptist denomination, At the time of the
founding of the university, it recelved & grant of 20,000
scres of land from Congress and the Inﬁianaua This grant
gave the college a valuable endowment with which to begin

its work, Thus in 1876, the amount of endowment, as reported
to the United States Commissioner of Education, was $100,000,%

1
Catalog of Ottawa University (48th amnual catalog,
Vol, X, H"“T"ﬁo. pril, 1913), Pp. I‘-‘B"i:

£ Ibid., pp. 13-14.

S Report of the United States Commissioner of Education
18'76-18 eshington: Government Publisbing Orfices
Ps
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In 1886, the endowment was reperted to be $50,000.% The
academy currlculum was designed as a college preparatory course,
which had the added objective of providing e thorough Christian
education. ° The enrovllment in the academy increased slowly
until 1894 when it reached itsipeak at one hundred ninety-
fours Although 1t deelined slowly thereafter, yet until 1917,
there was an average attendénce of more than one hundred.®
The eollege and its academy were supported in psrt by tniﬁien‘
fees, in part by income from enﬁgwmenﬁs, and in times of
finencial stress by donetions from the Baptist Chureh and
the people uf Ottawa. TIn 1886, the report te the United
States Commissioner of Education shows ineome from the endow~
ment fund listed at $4,000 per year and from tultion fees at

$3,000 per year»7

% Inia., p. 595.

4 Columbian History of Educatlon in Kensas (Topekat
Press of Hemilbton PPInting (Oag 18937, p. 82.

8 Lulu M. Brown, Ottawa, Kansas, Personal Letter,
November 15, 1934.

7
Report of the United States Commissloner of Educetlion,
1886-1887 (Washington: Government Publishing Office, 1888),

P 695,




CHAPTER XVII
GEARY COUNTY

St. Xavier's School: This school was opened in
the fall of 1871, in Junetion City, Kansas: In 1905,
the school occupied the old church which the parish hed

vacated when they comstructed a new churchs In 1918,

the present school building was construeted and the school
has oeccupied it conbinucusly since. The courses of study
offered are cammerc¢ial and academits The school has no en=
dowment and its income is derived from chureh support andby
tultion charged to its students who reside outside the
parigh,s The school does not require that e uniform be worn.
It has nine instruectors, all Sisters of 8t: Joseph fram
Concordia, Kansas, a grade school enrollment of one hundred
and sixty and a high school enrollment of wwnﬁw}‘ |

‘ 1 Sister M. Dala&as, Junction City, Kensas, Personsl
Letter, April 2, 1235. '




CHAPTER XVIII
GREENWOQD G OUNTY

Southern Kangas Academy: This school was established
by the Congregationsl Chureh at Euroka,.Kanaaa in 1885, The
generous assistence of the citigens of Eureks and Greenwood
Gounty. In view of this, the school's sharter forbade relis
gious inastruetion except the general tenets of Christianity.

The academy @ffered two gemeral courses in 1892; one gourse--
olaseical and selentifie, and the other course~-literary and
normal.l The schoollts ingome was derived in pert from con~
tributions, in part from endoweont and in part from tuition
fees. 1t possessed a bullding valued at $12,200, and a cam=
pus of fifteen sores.® In 1918, the school made itz last
report to the State Superintendent of Publiec Instruction.®
The school had en average enrollment of from one hundred to
one hundred twenty-five students.®

1 gulunkien ;iiqtm% of Education in Kanses (Topeka:
State Printer, 1893), P.

2
‘rhirteenth Biennial Report State Superintendent of
tion: ~Kansas 1 03 (Topeka: Btate Frinter,

mcmmmae

3
Twentieth [ nnial Report State Superintendent of
Public Instruction; KE IQJ.[B:’IQIB {Topeka: Btate Frinte

ng Plant, 1919), Ds 'BEI.

4 personal Interview, A, Kirk Remy, Principal Lowther
Junier High School, mmporisa, Kanses.




CHAPTER XIX
HARPER COUNTY

Harper College: This college was eabablished at

Harper, 3Jeptember 8, 1915 by mewbers of the Harper commun=
1ty and the religious sect known as the Church of Christ.t
These people desired to provide a school in whieh the com~
munity could obtaln a better type of edueation for thelr ehil-
dren and could at the same time teach the Bible to svery
student,? The school was in exlstence enly nine years but
maintalned both eollege and academic departments with empha=-
8ls on the latter. Bible instruction was given in all the
departments and all classes and each student was required to
give a Bible recitstion daily.3 The academlc department was
soccredited by the State Board of Edueation.? 'Tbe City of
Harper sssisted in the founding of this institution teo the
extent of deeding to the school & bullkding which was later

1 Zlennial Survey of gducation, Department of Interior
1920-1822, Vol. £ (washington: Government Printing OTfice,
M), pl 637.

2 .
Bulletin of H Colle%e 1922-1925 -Vol. 3 (Har=-
per, Kansas: as: Harper Eollsge April, 1 19227, p sy Ps B

3 Ibidn’ p. 15-

4 Kansas Educatlonal Directory 1923-1924 (Complled by
J. W. 1118y, Topeka: Kansas state Printing Flant, November,
1923), p. 41.




55

used by the college. The citizens of the community reised

& subscription of $6,000 which was later incressed by $56,

000 before the school cpened. By 1922, the endowment of the

college had grown to $130,000, This endowment, together with

tuition fees, was used to meintain instruction in both eole

legiate and acedemic work to a student body. vhich averaged

about three hundred mnually snd to maintain four sehool

bulldings and a ten-sere osmpus.® In 1924, the State Board

of Education last listed Harper Ucllsge as san agsredited school.®

The school has not been on the accredited list slnce that date.
St. Hose Academy: This school was established by

the Sisters of St. Joseph at Danville, Kansas, in 1881, and

apparenily attempted to develop from a grade school to se-

sondary levels and all the time being hempered as 0 fine

ancial security, What finaneing it had was by mudn and

& caput tax, It possessed a building valued at $15,000 and

7 It is not reported in the records

of the State Superintezndent of Publlis Instrustion sinee 3..9@8.6

& ten-aocre campus in 1802,

5 Pulletin of Harper Gollege, 9Ps Gilies PPs Boll.

é EKansss Edueational Mirsctory 1923-1924, log. pit.

7 Thirteenth Biennial Report St 8 23 tendent 2
Public %W ope ;

©
Co,

8
Sixteenth &mnial Superintendent or
Fubiie Instruction: Kansas %@% EEM State Frinting

“;m,, P. 39?0

ing




CHAPTER XX
HARVEY COUNTY

Halstead Academy: Halstead Academy, now Bethel

College 1s located at Newton, Kansas, and has ita roots
even farther back than Halstead, Kansas. In 1882, a school
was started ten miles north of Newton in the "Neu-Alexander-
wohl Gemelnde" and seventeen students attended during the
year 1882-1883., The Emmenthal schoolhouse was used. The
following vear, 1883, the sehool was moved to Halstead.l
The iHalstead School printed two datalogs, one English and
one German. The German "Ciroular and Katalog" 1llsts the
name of the school as ”lennonitische Portbildungeschule®.
The =nglish "Circular and Catalog" calls 1t "Ménnonite
Seminary",? In the esrly catalogs of the school, we £ind
the following statements that throw llight on the general
plan of the curriculum. The seminary "teok its origim in
the keenly felt need of able teachers, more especlally such

teachers as would be prepared to instruet in both German

Circular und Xatalog der Mennonitlschen Fortblld~

ungsschuls zu Halstead, Harvey County, Kansas (Kansas (0t. Louls,
MIssourl: Aug. Wlebusch & Son PrInE{ng Co., 1887), pp. &=4.

2
Clreular and Catalogue of the Mennonite Seminary

at Halstead ﬂavvwz @bunt¥ Kansas (5t,. Louls, Nissouris
Kig . iieousah & rinting Conpany, 1885), p. 10.
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and Emgligh".s The income from this source was hardly sufe
flelent to cover one~half of the necessary expenses 6f son=
dueting the semlnary. The balance hed to be obtained from
other avallable sources, The method mdopted for ralsing the
deflcit was by voluntary contributions  from churehes and
1nd1v§duals.4 One of the catalogs of the early pericd speaks
of "The Halstead College Assoeclation", which arganizntion'
erected a bullding in Halstead valued at $5,000, and placed
this bullding st the disposal of the "uennonitische Fort-
bildungsschule®” for five  ears without chafge.ﬁ In 1893,
the school at Halstead was eclosed and the institution moved
to Kewton and continued as Bethel Gellaga,v which school

continued the ascademy department until 1927.

3 Gireular and Catalogue of the Mennonite $ominagz
at Halstead, Harvey County, ansas, 10C. CLG.«

4 First Annual Report of the Board of Déregtors of
Bethel College of the Mennonite Church af liorth Amer ca at
ﬁawton,'Kansas TEt, Louls, Hissourl: Augs Weibusc

ng 604, 1888), pn 6!

5
Cireular und Kstalog der Mennonitischen Fortbil-
dungsschule, op« elt., P. 4.

P Circular and Catalogus of the Mennorite Seminary,
_QRC C‘pitq, pu 6.

7 irater Ka*m%mﬁ von Bathal College zu Newton, Kansas
(8t. Louls, Wlssour RUg . Wiebusc on Printing Co.,
1893), p. 4.
8
Bathel Gollo e Bulletin, Vol, 14 (Thirtg-rifth
Annugl Cafalog o el College, Ko. 3, May, 1987), pe 1ll.
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Hessaton College and Bible School: This school was

established In 1909 at Hesston, Kensas, "to edvance the
sause of Christ thpough Bible stuﬁy"ag The school 1z under
the control of the Mennonite Board of Edueation of the
Hennonite Church. The currieulum of the school conslsts

of the usual secondary level courses supplemented by s con~
siderable amount of study of Mennonite religlous beliefs.
The academy 1s accredited by the State Board of Bducabtlon.
Some Blble study ia required of all stundents. At the pre-
gent time the institution's orgenlzetion ineludes four de-
partments; junlor college, Bible echool, academy, and exten~
tlon divislion. At the time of the establishment of the school
it wae endowed wlth elghty scres of land located at Hesston.
This domation was one of the important features which lead
to the esbablighment of the schoel st Hesston. The school
derives 1ts income from a combination of tuition oherges,
endowment income and donations. The aschoel consists of
thres bulildings, a girls' dormitory, the college's adminis~
tration hall; and a frame gymnaesium located on a campus of

twenty aerasala

© paul Erb, Hesston, Kansas, Versonal Letter, Dee,
5, 1934,

10 yesston College Blble Sehool Bulletin, Vol. XVIT
(Hesaton, fansas: Puﬁf!sﬁaﬁ By Wennonite Noard of Educa-

tlion for iHesston College Ddble School, May 1931), pp. 9-11.



CHAPTER XXI
HODGEMAN COUNTY

Jetmore Academy: This scademy was established at

Jetmore, Kansas, in 1887 largely through the personal efforts
of lr. T« 3. Haun and his wife, Elizabeth Hsun. In 1888,

ir. and Lirs. Haun deeded to Hr, W, H. Miller, bloek thirty-
slx of Haun's first edltion to the City of Jetmore in the
congideration of $200,00 and provided that Mr, diller bulld

and malntain an institution of learning including a normal
ingtitution and also establish and maintain an instlitution for
the teasching of music. -Instrueclons ln these various subjects
were to begln by the first of January, 1887. The school as
finall;, erected, was a two-story freme building., Throughout
ite short career it was beset by financisgl difficulties.

Thus in June, 1887, W. H. Miller and his wife, Mery E. Miller,
T. S. Haun and his wife, Blizabeth Haun, mortgeged block thirtyQ
six to Herbert E. Ball for #1,872, In June, 1891 the lot was
sold to J. H. Geddard at a sheriff!s sale and the academy
bullding later was torn down. The academy 1tself cessed
instructlion In 1889, The inaﬁltuﬁion took children of all
ages, ir. .iller hiring an assistant Lrnstructor to take care

of the younger children, while he cared for the upper grades
which were of academic rank. 0r, Miller's wlfe and her sister,

Lu*le Hoxle, wers the music instructors. The academy was
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not connected with any religious denomination. It was purely
g prlvate enterprise. Its fallure was a disappointment to
those who were vlitally interested in it. The Hauns lost

a large amount of money and #p, Miller later referred to

Hodgeman Ceunty as the "land of lost hapes".l

dargaret Haun Rooser, Jatmore, Kanses, Pursonal
Letter, January 8, 1855.



CHAFT:R XXIX
JACKSON COUNTY

Campbell University: Campbell University, Holton,

Kansas, was flrst opened in 1882c1 It asdvertised itself as
"non-sectarlan but thoroughly Christian." In 1903, Campbell
University was taken over by the United Brethern Church.
Lane Urnlversity of LeCompton, Kansas, at this same time

was consolldated wlth Campbell University and mpved to Hol=-

2

ton. In 1918, aneother consolidation, this time with Kansas

City University, csused the clesing of the Campbell Uniwver-
sity.s The 1nstruetors went to Kansas City and many of them
continued with Kansses Clty Unlverslty untll the c¢losing of
that school, The school was establlshed along the general
plan of the indeperdent schools, 3pscifically, Campbell
Unlversity was patternsd after the Holbrook School at Le-
bannon, Ohlo. However, by 1888, the currieulum had besn so

extended and changed that in 1885, the United 3tates Bureau

of .duecatlon classed the acheol with four=year colleges rather

1 211a %. Powler, Holton, Kansas, Personal Letter,
Hovember 23, 1934.

= nighteenth Blennial Report State $ugerintendent of
Public Instruchion: Kansss 1911-1912 (Topeka: otate rPrint-
Itg office, 1012), p. S00.

3

Ella #. Fowler, loc. cit.
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than with the independent sehool. 41l courses, ineluding
sclence, commerce, law, music, art, dramatlics, and normal
tralning, led to a series of degrees. The institution we
made paaaible‘frpm its beginning largely by private subserip-
tion, princlpally ths gifts of Wr. A, Green Campbell for whom
the school was named.* The lnstitution wes financed
prinelpally by itnitlon fees augmented by a small amount of
income from en endowment fund which in 1912 amounted bo
$2,000, At this same date, the value of the bulldings wes
estimated to be $68,5®G‘5 After a short-lived attempt to
quallify as a Junior ecollege f&iiod,e the building and campus
at the instltutlion wers turned over to the Board of Educecsation
of Holton and are now used for the local high scheols OCamp-
bell Universlty reached 1ts zenith uof usefulnsss abwut 1900
under the presidency of E. J. Hoenshel, the author bf

an English grammer used meny years in Kensas as a state text.
At sbout thile time, there were sixteen to twenty teachers

and nearly six hundred students and the school counts among
its alumnl such well-known nemes in Kansas achool cireles

as L. He Potitt, George Allen and Mrs, Ella E, Fowler.

4 m1la B, Fowler, loc. olt.
B mighteenth Bilenniel Report, ops eit., p. 319.

& Ella ®. Fowler, loc, oit.



CHAPTER XXIII
JEWELL COUNTY

Northbranch Academy: Thls school was esbtablished at

Horthbraneh, fTansas, in 1889 by the Friends Church. This was
one of the many academles established by the Frlemds in
Zansas. Unlike meny of them, this sehool continues to the
present time.1 The ecourss of study offered consists of
re;ular high school eourses with a 1ittle Bible instructlon.®
The institution is controlled snd financed by tha Juint Stoek
Company whose capltal stock at the time of founding was
$2,000,% In 1912, the capital stock wes $20,000.% wMest of
the income of the institutian; however, comes from the tule
tlen fee of $18.00 per semester per student,’ The institution
ernsists of one building valued at $10,000 in 1912,°% end s

1 | | )
Thirteenth Blennisl Renort State Superintendent of
Public Instructiont Kensas LDOI-1D0E |Topékay State Printing
07flce, IQGSS, Pp. 93=-108a

2 6. W, Hervey, Principal Northbraneh Academy, Northm
branch, Kensas, Personal Lebter, December 2, 1934.

S Tpnirteenth Bilennial Heport, loe. clt.

£ .
Bighteenth Biennial Report State Superintendent of
Public Instruction: Kansss 1§I§:I§12 (Topeka: SLate Printing
OfTice, LU1E2), D 519,

5

Ge We Horvey, loc., cit.

6 Eighteenth Biemnial Report, 1pcs clt.
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lpcated on a campus ten aeres in extontaq The school is
8t111 1n operation with an enrollment of about fifty students

and 1s accredited by the State Department of Education as &
high school.®

7 Thirteenth Biennlal Repert, 1ec. elba

8 ¢. E. Perische, Headmaster Northbranch Aesdeny,
Nortbbraneh, fensas, Personal Letter, 1928,




CHAPTER XXIV
KIOWA COUNTY

Havilend Acedemy: This school, located at Haviland,
Kansas, was established in 1892 by the Friend's Congregation
of that cammity.1 It was established because of the need
of the Friends for a school where the word of God as they
believed it, might be studied and orthodex teaehing of the
Bible might be maintained according to the tenets of their
ta1th.” Although the sehool was founded by the Friend's
Chureh, the instruction is and was non-seetarian.® In 1895,
some of the subjects offered at Haviland Academy weres Latin,
mathematies, physics, history, English, and musie, At the
present time, the school offers its regular scademy work

although the school in 1917 underwent a reorganization inte
a Bible College with the academy retained as a department

1 situated at Haviland, eastern Kiowa County on (¢-R
I.&%P. Rallroad. In 1884-85, Friends came with families
from Indiana, Illinois, Ima, and Ohic and preempted govern-
ment land, Hamed the town and later academy in honor of
philanthropist, Laursa S. Haviland of Adrian, Michigan,

(Thirteenth Biennial Report State Superintendent of
Public Instruction: Kanses IQ%IQUE’T‘EOW a1 otate Printer,

), Po. 93-10Z,
]
2 fhe Bulletin--Friends Bible College 1953-1934, Vol.
III (Baviland, Ransas: Catalogue Number, 34), PPs D=6

5 LO‘Q. eitt
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only. A Junior college was added in 1925,% wnaccredited,

and a sehool of music.® In 1912, the school reported an
endowment to the state superintendent of $8,000.% The sehool
is maintained through tuition charges -and - voluntary contrie
butions to the sehool; Tuition rates in the Bible College
and in the Junior Lollege departments are §2 per semester
hour of subjects teken, In the academy, tuition charges
amount to $6.85 per subject.’ In 1806, the imsome of the
school a8 reported teo the State Superintendent of Publis
Instruction was {760 inpome from tuition fees snd $1,750
from voluntary contributions. In 1896, the value of the
bulldings was estimated to be $4,000.° In 1912, the esti-
mated value was $8,000,°

% soott T. Clark, President Friends Bible College,
Haviland, Kansas, Personal Letter, January 26, 1935,

: 5]
The Bulletin--Friends Pible College, op. eit.
Pp- _8"14, m:l- ’

6 o ;
Eighteenth Biennial Re 8tate Superintendent of
Publie Instruction; Kansas 191?—%1! l!opoEE‘ 1 Otate Print-
Ing oftice, 1913), ps B19.

7 7he Bulletin--Friends Bible College, op. oit., p. 4l.

Tenth Bienniasl Report State Superintendent of Public

Instructiont Kansas TB'PF&E TTopexa: Kansas State Print-
Ing Compeny, 1806), p» 95.

© Eighteenth Biennial Report, op. eit., p. 319,




CHAPTER XAV
LABETTE COUNTY

Oswego Collegay This school, located at Oswego, Kan=-

ses, was the first private school of a secondary nature
establlshed in Labette County, Kansas, and was planned and
promoted by Reverend R+ P. Bukey, It was located a 1ittle
northwest of the Clity of Oswego, Kensas. In September,
1870, the scheool was opened under the supervision of Miss
Mary E. Claypool in a bullding erected during the summer

of that yesr by Mr. Bukey and which econtained twe good -
school rooms, The prospects fer enlarging the school bew
came {lattering due to the large enrollment and Mr. Bukey
planned for an immediste expansion of the schoolls facili=~
ties., He secured es a partner in his venture a Mr. John D.
Gillette who was & man of conslderable mesns, and durlng the
latter pert of 1870 a two-story addition was made to the
original building and the teachlng force enlarged by adding
Professor Allsn C. Baker as bteacher of mathematics. Tha
next year the faculty consisted of Reverend J. H. Laard,
President; Professor A. C. Baker, teacher of mathematles;
Miss P. D. Bullock, teacher of languages; Miss Klla School,
teacher of music, The school had several boarding students
by this time, but probably due teo lack of experilence in
handling schoel matters, the management seems to have been

badly handled and the school was closed after the second year.
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The origlnal bullding was purchssed by a resident of Oswego
who moved 1t to town and transformed 1t Into @ residence.l

Oswego Collsge for Ewqu‘ﬁadiesi This school was

established ata meeting of the Neosho Preabytery held at
Qswego, Kansas, May 18, 1883. 4 board of trustees was

elected and on December 23, 1883, the college was lncor=
porated. The charter was granted by the Secrstaery of State
and on October 4, 1884, the Syned of Kansas took the college
under its jurlsdletion. In the fall of 1885, the cibtlizens

of Oswego purchased a large brick residence valusd at

$17,000 and presented it to the eollege. Miss Loulse Pall

was elected Prinelpal of the schopl and autherized to

select obther me%b@ra of the faculby. 4ctual class W@rk bew
gan January 14, 1@&6 with €. H. HeCreery scting as President
©f the school, In the summer of 1887, a new frame bullding
was srected upon the grounds at a cest of $12,000, The school
- operated on the tultlion charged students, whlch averaged abeout
#$5,000 the year, and also seccepted the donations and contri-
butions of its friends inslde and out of the Presbyterian
Church, these aggregating about §1,B00 the yenr,Q The finan=-

L]
clal posltion of the cellege was dlways wmore or less pre-

1 #ditorial 1n the Parsons Dai@g gun, July 7, 1895,

g e sk
Tanth Blennisl Re Publle Inw
FaTo Pr%n%ihg

struction: Kansas 1885~
Company, 18987, ps L00.
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carious. The course of study was comparable to that of
other academies and ae—calied colleges of the perlod and al=~
though 1ts intentions were to confine its students to young
ladies of the white raea,3 yet some few boys were taken aa
day students from the local community. This school contine
ued with varying financlal sucecess until the glose of the
school year 1920% when it graduated 1ts last class aid closed
its doors forever. A sporadle attempt to open a millitary
academy in the bullding came to an end with the destruction
by fire of the frame building on the campus.

3 ®diltorial in the Oswego Independent, Decémber 20, 1895.

4 8allle Shaffer, Parsons, Kansas, Persona. Lettar,
Janunary 6, 1935. '




CHAPTER XXVIX

LINCOLN COQUNTY

Eansas Chrisbien College: This school was located
at Iincoln, Kansas and was founded there in 1888 by bhe
Protestant denomination known as the Christisn Chureh, The
college had among its objectives definite intention to teach
secience in such a way as 0 develop reasoning; te impress .
students with ideals of the fearless nobility of sterling
character; the essential purity of true patriotismj a due
regard for the rights of end duties to others as well as
encouraging a development toward the highest aspirations
in life which students of the school might have,l It is
interesting to note the subjest maetter through which the
college intended to reach these high idesls, In 1896 sub-
Jects in their currieulum ineluded phyai.@legy, Greek, aim-
cution, msthematies, bookkeeping, geography, algebra,
psychology, arithmetie, German, and mm;? All of these
courses, in their imtroductory forms, with the possible exe

1 . a
Columbian History of Education in Kansas (Topeka:
Press of Hamilton Printing Oompany, 1893), DD Be=B83.

2 L | |
Tenth Biennlal Report State Superintendent of Pub-
lic Instruction: Kensas 1806 (Topeka: &tate Printing

Company, 1896), Ps 96.
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ception of Greek, are subjests found at present in schools

of secondary level, The evidence that the college was pre-
dominately secondary in nature is strengthened by statistlcs
of the sehool in 1909, In that yeapy, thirtyseight of the
forty students enrolled in Kensas Christian College were listed
as being enrolled in the preparatory dapartmenﬁwa In 1896y
the buildings and prqiperty of the school were valued at
$12,000 and this ingluded a fivewacre campus.® The school!s
main source of income was a tultion charge of $7.00 per

year per subject, exclusive of music for which extra sharges
were levied.® At the close of the school year, in 1810,

the school made its final repert te the State Superintendent
of Public Instruection, at which time it listed fifteen stu-
dents in the preparatory department and twenty students in
the college d.epartment.e

3 . . ke
Seventeenth Biennial Report State Superintandent
of Public¢ Instruetion: Mafﬁbﬁ'«f},g_m {Topeke: Kanses
State Printing Company, 1010), DP» .

4 fenth Biennial Report, loec. cit,

5 Tenth Biennisl Report, loc. git.
6

Seventh Biennial Report, op. e¢it., p. 285.




CHAPTER XXVI
LEAVENWORTH COURTY

Immaoulata High Sehool: Immeaculata High School was

establlshed by the Catholiecs of Leavenworth, Kansas and the
surrounding territery in 1911,0 The establishment of this
school was in line with the plan of the Catholie Chureh to
educate Cathollic students in Cathollec sehools.® The courses
offered in thils high school are listed in three divisions:
sclentiflie, classleal, and commercial. When the schesl was
established in 1811, it had an enrollment of twenty-seven.

It has grown since that time until the present aversge enroll-
ment 1ls around two hﬁndred aixtyﬁfivens The aahoal 18 housead
in an excellent building which cost the Catholics of Leavenw
worth and the surrounding parishes, $185,000.% The suppert
of this scheol is proevided bartially by the tultlen charge of
$2.50 per month for those students whe can afford to pay this

sum and by donations from the Catholle Cuurch to make up the

1 sister M. Baptista, Leavenworth, Kansas, Personal
Letter, December 31, 1934.

2 R. J. Bollig, History of Catholic Hducstion In
fanses 1836-1932 (St. Weinrad, Indisne; 1he Abbey rress,

» Po 67,
3 sister M, Baptista, loc. clt.

4 g, J. Bollig, lec. cit.

P
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differences.® The sehool has one lerge, well-equipped bulldw
ing and the stwdents of this school have participated in
state scholarship contests in a manner which indiecates that
excellent work is beling done by the beschers of this school.
The school continues to operste st the present time and aseems
to be growing end enlarging in the soope of 1ts actlvities.

Salnt Mary's Academy: Thie schopl was estsblished in

1866 by the Siasters of Charity, & Catholie order, The inten-
tion of this academy was and 13 to £it for sollege and to
gseclude from harmful influences the adolescent Catholle girl.e
The academy offered in 1921, the following courses: classical
coursges, an English and sclentific course, sn English end
commerei al eourse, and & normal tralning cwuraeav ¥hen

first established, the academy took beth boy and girl students,
but since 1811, this has been unnecessary gince the foundation
of Immaculsta High School, 8t. Mary's, in 1923, added a
Junior College to 1ts departments. At the time the scademy
was started, the money necessary to purchase & fiftesn-acre
site, %1,500, was donated by Dr. Madison Mills. The school

is maintained largely through tultlon supplemented by some

5 sigter M. Baptista, loc. elt,

o R. J« Bollig, op. cit., p. 47.

7 St. Mary's Academy (Leavenworth, Kansas: Clrcular
of informetion e nd course of study, 1921), p. 6.
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support from the order.C As in all Cathollc convent schools,
the students are required to weer uniforms. This consiasts
of a plain black dress whose neck must not be lower than the
throat, whose sleeves must reach four inches below the el-
bows, and whose skirt must resch not more than four inches
above the floor. The school possesses thrse bulldings lo-

9

cated on a epne hurdred slzty asere campus.

Tongsnoxle Academy: This school was established

at Tonganoxle, Kansas by the Soclety of Friends in 1884;10
It was one of the many academies established through the ae-
tivities of the Friends Church, which offshoot of the Quakers
seems to have been very active in easrly Kansas educational
history. As was the case with other Friends scademles,

this school ineluded in its curriecunlum definlte religious
influences. The Friends believed that educational institu-
tions should send out Into the world men and women of correct
hablta and vrineivles, and their currieulum and the instruce

tion 1n thelr schools was designed to do jJust this.ll Probably

8 r. J. Bellig, op. cit., pp. 48-49,
o St. #ary's Academy, loc. clt.
10 : :
Tenth Blennial Report State Superintendent of Publlec
Instruction: Kansas 1893:§E§3 (Topeka: Kansas otate Printing

11 columbian History of Education in Kansas (Topeka:
State Printer, 18B3), p. 86,
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the greater part of the benefieial effect of the Friends ac-
ademies came from their type of instruction and the instruc-
tors rather than from the currieulum ltself, for a typleal
currlenlum of the Tonganoxie Academy In 1896 consisted of
Latln, science, history, mathematies, literature, Engliish
and bookkeeplng.lz The 1lnecome of this school was derived
partially from tultion fees and partlally. from voluntary
contributions with the income from tultion fees constituw
ting by far the larger part., Thus in the typleal year
1896, the income from tultion fees was §$450.00 and from
voluntary eontributions $150.00, making a total income of
$600.,00 for the year for Tonganoxle Academy., Thia Ineome
is small but at the same time 1in 1896, the institution had
only twenty-three students and twe instructors.l® The last
report, made to the State Superintendent of Publie Instruectlon
from thils school was in 1898. % It seems likely that finsneclal
difficulties had much to do with ﬁhe final discontinuance of
this school. In 1896, the school had bulldings valuned at

$3,000,

12 menth Biennial Report, loc. cit.

1a Tenth Biennlal Report, loc. ecit.

14 mi1eventh Biennial Rs ort State Superintendent of
Public Instrwetlion: Kansas 1877-1888, (Topeka: State Printer
1878), p. 107. ) . .




CHAPTER XXVIII

LYON COUNTY

Hartford Golllegiate‘mm%-z This schacl; located
at Hartford, Kansas, was estﬁhiighsd in 1862 and designed
as a feeder for Baker University by the Methodist Episcopal
Church.t The school was under the jurisdiction of Baker Unie-
verslity as to the subjecta taught. Naturally the subjechs
were largely college preparatory in nature 2 In addition to
the academy work, it was the intention of the foundera to give
the first year of gollege work at Hartford Collsgiate Insti- ‘
tute, but the preparatory department dominated the inatitution.®
The school possessed three bulldings located on an elevens
aere fmanmgm.:eu..‘x The value of the buildings and the egquipment
and the land was estimated at $7,900 in 1871.° Mme sollege
was supporbed largely through income fram tuitions. In 1871
the income from this souree amounted to &1,@0035 In 1878,

1 george Rummel, Hartford Emi Hartford, Kansas
(Bartford, Kansas Newspaper, . 1, 1898) v

2 1oe. cit.
S Joc. Gitv
4 Report of the United Statea Omiau:!.ogor of Edu~

cation 18 ashington: Government ng Office, 1872),
De 167

5 Log » cibs

8 Locas Clte

ot
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the school was ¢losed because of the fmcial difficultiea
general at that time, The very wellebuilt stome ntmetﬁre
which housed the school during ita éxistence still stends and
serves as a grade school in Hartfords The bullding is lmt.‘ed
in the center of a large block, surrounded hy shade trees snd
is 8till in good cendition.

Neosho Hapids Seminary: This scheol, located at Neo-
sho Rapids, Kansas, was founded in 1883 by a Reverend
Pigmen. The intention of this institution was to provide
education and religious training for girls. There are prace
tieally no records of this institution available as all

of the archives were destroyed by fire years sge. Miss Laura
French in "The History of Emperia and Lyon County," gives
this institution enly sentences She says, "The Free
Methodist for years mainimined a college in Neosho Rapids,
but it burned and was net rebullt."” The institution as
mentioned was destroyed by fire in 1888 and not rebuilt and H
80 at that date passed out e!f existence.

St, Joseph's High School: This scheol was founded
September 3, 1905 by the Catholies of the Olpe Parish.®

7 Laura M, B‘reﬁch, Hist of Hmporia and Lyon County
(Emporis, Kansas: mnperia'm?t%e"?r nting 88, 1929), L
p. 155¢

8 sister leontina, Olpe, Kensas, Personal ILetter,
November 29, 1934.
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Tne school is taught at the present time by the Francisean
sisters.’ When the school began in 1905, it offered two years
of high school and two ysers of commereial work,*® 1In 1821,
upon the completion of a new school building, the work was .
expanded to a four-year high sghool which follews the state
eourse of study for rural high schools«!l At the present time
the average enrollment is about sixty, ‘Both Catholis and
non~Catholic students are enrolled, sinee this is the only
nigh school in the community, The schosl Lis maintained
almost exelusively by tultion ree-.m The high sg¢hool is con-
ducted on the sesond floor of the St Joseph Parochial achool
mm.:&a | | o o 3 1/%4“

College of Emporia: This sthool was established by
the Presbyterien Synod of Kansas at Emporia, in 1883: For
the first two years of the school!s existensce, only secons
dary work was given., In 1885, college work wag first ofw
fered snd in 1889, the collegse graduated ite first elasss con-
sisting of only two members--William J, Coulson, and Harry

? R. T4 Bollig, Histo
Kansas 1836-19832 (D@etw 8 ‘ N
dizna: The Abbey Press, 1%&}, pe 70.

10 g1gter Leontina, log. eit.

11 R, J. Bollig, loc. eit.

12 gigter Leontina, loc. git.
13 g, 7. Bollig, loc. cit., p. 70.
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L. Hubbard. Before 1887, the sehool had been conducted in
& down town bullding on the northwest gorner of Sixth Ave-
nue and Commercial Street, but in 1887, Stuart Hall was ready
for occupaney and the collsge moved to its present laaat:kmu;“‘
In 1909, lewls Academy at Wichita was ¢onsalidsted with Cole
lege of Emporia,l® 1In 1912, the academy department at the
College of Emporia was mcenﬁnuea;l? When the school
first opened November 1, 1883; it had three instrustors and
a student body of seventeem, A% the time Lewis Academy of
Wichita was censolidated with the Gollege of Emperia, the
snrollment was -uty-nmml" The College of Emporia waa
- established at Emporis because the ¢ity gave thirty-eight
acres of land and $44,000 to be used in the erection of a
building.1® The sehool wes maintained through tuition ehay
ges and donations by friends of the institution.

) oria Ann ggtme, Vols. XV :
(Emporia, %EET ge off mpo ria, April, 1924}, pp. 65-66.

15 geventeenth Biennial Re; a“b S&tat, Sup rd.ntendmt. %
Public¢ Instruetlion: Kanua-l de Lt 18 ) A in
OfTice, 1910), Pp. be-

16 yineteenth B:lannial Report Stete Superinte
Publie InsTruction: Kensas 193%@ (Tor roe
Ing Office, 1914), D. -

17 College of Fmporia, '};’2.',, elt,

Rl

18 10c. cit.
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The, are: ILnglish Blble, Church History, Christian Doctrine,

Sunde y Sehool pedagogy, Histery of Israel and Biblical
Zxegesis. Upon the re-building of the school, the departmentsa
were more clearly defined and sollege work added,; so that the
present departments of the schoel are sollege, thaslogy, and
the academy. The last one pf these dapartments conblinuously
aceounting for over two~thlrds of the school's enrsllment,
The present adminlstration bullding of the school is ene
hundred thirty-two feet long and thirty feet wide and %ia

fire proof throughout, hae seventsen classrooms and wellw:
equipped leboratoriess There 1s alse a separate bullding
made vossible by an snnulty gift of $15,000 by Miss Mary Es
Regzler, an alummus, which serves as & dormitory for girls.
This building is thirty-elght feet wide end elghty feet long
with basement and two storless It ls of flre proofl construc-
tlon and modern throughout. There was erected in the spring
of 1923 a gymnasium thirbty-six feet long and forty-four

feet wide with a clearance of twenty feet above the hardwoed
floor which makes ample provisien for rueh needed axerclae
during the winter months at the school. The instlitution has
a very well organized student government system which, at

the same time, is closely gupsrvised by the faeulty, who

are devoted Followers of the striet docbrines of the



CHAPTER XXIX
MARION COUNTY

Pabor Cplleges This &éhool located, at Hillsboro,
fensas, was founded in the Spring of 1908, and opened 1ts
dours to students ln September of that year. Its founding
was a result of a definitely felt need of the Mennonite Bre~
thern Denominatlion thet there should be a sehool of higher
eduﬁaﬁi@n for tralning thelr ministers and offering secondary
educatlion to the people of thelr falths The school opened
with three teschers and thirtysnine students Iin the Mennonite
Brethern Chureh bullding of Hillsboro, sinee the college
building was not ready for occupaney. On the last day of
Aprll, 1918, the school's bullding and equipment was destroyed
by fire with & less of anproximately $24,000. The faculty
and students, working as 8 finance conmittee, leunched promptly
a $100,000 re-building fund and with ¢ onsiderable determinatien
carried the subseriptlion campalgn through to a successful
concluslion whilch had as an oubevme the re-~building of
the school on & basis which has placed its assessed valua-
tion somewhere In the nelghborhood of L200C,000. With some
varlation, partlieularly in the theolngical courses, the cur-
rleulum of the school was academle In the mecondary level
untll the time at whieh the first bullding was destroyed by
fire in 1918. Thls academy offers the usual classical

academic courses with six bibliecal studles subjects added.
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Mennonite Faith .1

'

"s4s Among the three groups settling in Cent
Ransa 8) into which this bodygof gonx(wnites gai dg\erid:g%
the congregation under the leadership of Elder Jacob Buller,
and known as ALEXANDERWOHL was the largest.

48 a congregation, Alexanderwohl has had sn interes-
ting hlstory, From the 0ld church book which was brought
from Russla, and seemingly even from Prussis, we gather a
few "acts about the practices that were prevalent while
the congregetion was still in Prussia. Aceording to the
records the congregation belenged to the branch of the
church known as the 014 #flemish, or Groningen, ones of the
strletest and most conservative of the wings of the denomina-
tions PBoth names come from Holland, In 1820, the congrega-
tion 1 eft Prussia and went to Russia and settled in the
Molotschna dlstrict. On the way, tradition says, they met
the Czar who wished them well. From this circumstance they
took the name Alexanderwohl. Among the practices which
have survlived from the 0ld Flemish cays, is that of feet-
washlng which has now become optional. Thelr languapge, the
Low Duateh, they brought from Prussiaj thelr style of chureh
archl tecture they Inherlited from Holland.

The membership of the congregation at the time of
thelr settlement upon the XKansas pralries numbered about
three hundred. This had grown by natural Increase by 1880
te nearly four hundred, and by 1900 to nearly eight hundred.
Some time later, the membership reached its highest point,
nine hundred; and in spite of a number of daughter congrega=-
tions that have since been formed in Oklahoma, as well as
within the precincts of the original settlement, snd indlivi-
duals who have continually left thelr homes, the membership
in 1920 wae stilll eight hundred eighty-three, embracing a
total population of nearly two thousand, the second largest
Mennonlte congregation in Americas..”

(Quoted from C. Henry Smith's The Coming of the
Russian Mennonites; Berne, Indlana: Wennonite Book Con=-

cern, 1027} pp. '1!4-14‘7& in the chapter on "Estavlishing
Frontier Homes: Kansas',)

1 Annual Cotalngue Tabor College (111llsbore, Kansas:
Nennonite Bulieﬁfixr:ﬁﬁl?ahhg House, 1928), Dp. 7-44.




CHAPTER XXX
MARSHALL COUNTY

Saint lichael's High School: Thisg, school, located

at Axtell, Kensas, was founded under the leadership of the
Reverend Michael Hoffmesn in 1918. The school has been conw
ducted from that time untll the present by the Catholie

Order of the Benedletine Siat@raul

The sehool has for ite
purpose, espeelally to prepare students for teachers'! exam-
instions. In sddition to nermal btraining, a regular high
school course, including college preparatory subjects, Latin,
French, German, and commercial eourses, are taugbt.g Some
ides of the growth of the school may be obtained by the
following informstion: Untll 1919, the school was conducted
by one teacher; iln 1920, another teacher was added, In 1021,
the number of teachers was Increased to three, and at the
present time-~1934, the school Is condueted by four teachers
and enrolls forty puplls. The school's finaneclal require=-

ments are met by tultion and a perish tax43

1 R, J. Bolllg, Histopy of Catholic Education in
Kensae 1636-1932 (ft. Melnrad, Indlana: The Abey Press,
1935), PQ 700

2 S1ster Chelidonie, Axtell, Sansas, Persona! Letter,
1934,

3 Loe. ¢lt.
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Wetmore Institute: This school, located at Irving,

Kansas, was founded in 1862 by the Presbyterian Church.

The intentlon with whieh this school was founded wes to meet
the educatlonal wanits of Northern Xansas, with the design

of gradually working this school up to the rank and dignity
of & flrst-class ecollege end agricultural aal'mtal.-;‘4 Between
1860 snd 1871, some of the courses offered are listed as
including prime ry, higher Znglish, lingual and normal depart-
mentss, The institution's bullding cost §8,000 at the time
the school was founded., All the money to defray this cost
was contributed by benevolent Institutions in the Eauzt:..5
Records show the school closed 1ts doors in 1871 due to

finences.

4 seventh Annual Report of Superintendent of Public
Instruction (Topeka: Commonwealth Printing House, 1 ,

PP, 3839,
5 1,00, cit.

Te————. S————



CHAPTER XxXI
MCPHERSON COUNTY

Bethany College Academy: This school was established

in 1881, The Institution wes a private enterprise which
Intended to supply better facllities for secondsry education
to those of Lutheran faith‘l The academy was established
by Dr, Carl Sweenson, whose slo-an was "the Bilble and the
Constltution®« 1In 1884, the academy came under the control
of the Kansas Conference of the Lutheran Augustana Synod.
Although Bethany College Academy began its career bearing
the name of Bathany Academy in 1886, the name was changed
to Bethany College, and the school received authority to
grent ecnllege degrees through an amendment to its charter
at that time. 1In 1891, the college was fully sceredited by
the State Board of Educatlion. From the first, the school
was noted for excellent muslc and fine arts departments,

It also malntained gulte a large commerce dopartment.2

In 1920, the academy department was diseantinﬂed.a It is

3 Bethany Gollegg Bulletin, Vel. 16 (Lindsborg, ifansase:
4lst acaedemlc year, 1l92C- , June, 1922), p. 17.

2 Bighteenth Blennlial Heport State Superintendent of
Public Instruction: Kansav 1QIE~I§1§ (Topeka: otate Print=
Ing Office, 1D1Z), pPe B0,

S Twenty-second Blennial HReport State Superlntendent
of Public Instructlon: ransas lULY=-1020 (Tlope:a: .tate
Trinting Flent, 1020), Ps o6&
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difficult to determine the exact proportion of the income
expended on the academy, but in 1912, the college aa & whole,
had an endowment of $65,326 which grew to $385,094 in 1928
and has probably remesined near that figure to datc.4 The
college includes five principal buildings and lesser onee
located on 8 twentyw-acre campusis

Central Academy and College: This school was moved

to McPhersonfrom Orleans, Nebraske, in 1914.° The new
school wae really a sugcessor of Orleana Seminary, operated
prior to this date by Free iMethodlstss The intentlon of

the school was to develop scholarship and Christlan character
along the line of religlous thought fostered by Free Method-
leme’ L. Glen Lewis, Reverend W. B, Olmstead, and about
forty leading ministers and laymen freom the patronizing
territory about MePherson, were responsible for the selection
of that olty as the successor to Orlesns, Nebraska, as the
site of this 1nat1tut16n. The sehoel offers foursyear
eourses equivalent to high school work amnd includes sclence,

English, normel training, end commerclal departments.”

4 Ipid., p. 319.
5 Bethany College Bulletin, op. elt., p. 1l4.

6 o, A. Stott, President, Central Academy and College,
MePherson, Kensas, Personal Letter, Novemver 13, 1934.

7 1
gentral Academy and College (McPherson, Kensss:
Catalog Number, June, LU2B), De 10,

B Ipid., pp. 26-33.



87
The erection of the building of Central Academy and College

1s finenced partially through the issusnce of bonds to the
amount of $10,000 partly through the sale of land and partly
through donations glven for the ceuses’ The title of the
property of the institution is helgd b& the Free Methodist
Chureh. The academy is located on the main street of Mew
Pherson, three miles from the pest affia;. The building
program has progressed through the years: Seience Hell, which
is tice main bullding, is valued at $90,000; Lewlse Hall, the
girls! dormitory, was bullt in 1916 et a cost of $25,000%
the sudltorium was built in 1917 at a cest of $35,000; the
gymna sium, in 1918 eost about §5,000 (frame)y in 1919 and
1920 , the boys! and girls' dormitories were valued et in
exceas of 563,000, The school effers in addition to the
acade;ny, the first two years of regular college work and ls
acceredited for this with the State Unlversitys; The regula-
tions as to soclal and personsl conduct are very striet as
1s usual in schools under religious denominations of puritan-
lstic faiths.lo
McPherson College Acadeny: Thils school, located

at .lgcPherson, Kansas was founded in 1888 by the Chureh of

the Brethern to provide young people of that denomination

9 Ibidﬁ’ Pt 9'
10 1p13., pp. 10-12.
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with facllitles for a thorough Christlan edueation.tt An
scadenmy was maintained as a department of the college until
1924; when the scademy was discontinued. % The eurrleulum
of the academy was based upon the belief that education is
& development of the whele being, body, mind, and spirit.la
In 1924, the aeadamj in its closing semester, offered courses
;n normal training, commerce, English, German, Latin, history,
algebra, Bilble, clvies and public apaaking.14 Since the
academy and college were one institution and therefores mst
ve considered together, it is impractieable to undertake
to separate the expenditures and endowmentas o the two dew
partments. In 1912, HcPherson College was listed as having
a productive endowment of $27,000. This amount has Leen
substantially increased up to 1935, but many investments
made are hard to evaluate as to present income valus., In
1928, the school reported productive endowment in the aggre-~
gate of 432,000.25 The college has six large bulldings

S Bulletin of McPherson Calla e (McPherson, Kansas:
Publlshed by McPherson College, ruary, 1924), pp. 10-11.

12 pyenty-fourth Bilennial Report State Superintendent
of Public Instruction: Aansas 1 =1024 (Topeka: otate
‘ﬁ:ﬂ.nging FI&HE, Iﬁﬁz ’, Pe 85,

13 pulletin of WoPherson College, op. cit., p. 1Z.

14 1p1d., p. 78.
15 Bighteenth Blennlal ngort,‘gg. elit., p. 319,
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and 2160 pocsessss a farm of one hundred seventy-three acrea
sonnected with the college in additlon to & rather extensive
campus. Students ettending this college are required to wear
plain, simple, modest ﬁraamm Thia rule alsp appllied to the

sdcademy during its exlstence.

16 Bulletin of lePherson ¢ollege, Op. elts, ppali=l4.




CHAPTER XXXII
MIAMI COUNTY

Ursuline #cademy: In May, 1895, five acres of land

was presented to the Ursuline Sisters by the townspeople

of Paola on which was erected an academy bullding at a cost

of $12,000 by the Sisters, with Mother Jerome as Mother
Superior and Prinelpal of the aoademy.l The flnancial security
of the new school was assured by Mother Jerome's father, Mr,
Andrew Schaub of Plttsburgh, Pennsylvania, who secured a loan
for the Sisters in the east. Bullding operations were begun
In July, 1895, and the academy was ready for occupansy on

the first of March, 1896.2 In September of that year, the
school opened with four boarders and sbout forty day students.
The first class of thres graduated from the aecademy in 18901,
and in thet same year, the parlsh school, which had been
connected with the academy in the same bullding, was separated
with a bullding of 1ts own. It was necessary to add a new
bullding in 1904 which housed the chapel, dormitories, dinipg
rooms, and recreatlion halls. Thls was erected at a cost of

$22,000, Since that time, other new bulldings have been

1 R, J. Bollig, History of Catholic Lducation in
Kansas 1836~-1932 (St.’mlnrag% TndTana: The Abbey Irens,

> P+ B3,

2 Logs cite
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erected 1ncluding an auditorium and muslc conservatory coste
ing §100,000, completed 1n 1916, and a {500,000 administration
building in 1926. The campus has been inersased to thirty
acres with shade trees, flower gardens and walks, also an

athletic field for golf, tennis and volley ball.?5

A Junior
College was added in 1984, whioch 1s fully nooreditod‘by the
State of Kanaas and by the Herth Central Assoclatlon of

G’elleges; The academy offers a college preparatory course

and commercial course.?

8 k. J. Bolllg, loc. clt.

4 7ne Ursulines originated at Bordeaux, France 1n
1622, They went to Germany gnd in 1803 were deprlved of
their possessions, They were re~astablished by the King
of Bavarla in 1828, and in 1858 three of them came to Amerlce
to foprm a convent at Loulsville, Kertucky. 9ince that tlme,
thelpr influence has spread, partloularly in Pennaylvania
and the vicinity. The firat venture upon the plains of the
middle-west was at the time Mother Jerome ‘chaub came to
Paola and establlished the Ursullne Acadewy thore .



CHAPTER XXXIV
MITCHELL COUNTY

Grellet Acedemy: This school, located at Glen Elder,
Kansas, was founded in 1878, It was one of the many academies
- founded by the Friends mmrsh in Keansas, The s¢hool continmed
to operate sn scademy until 1895, at which time the buildings
burned and were not replapeds With the burning of the build-
ings, Crellet Academy cams to en end.® The academy offered
typieally academie subjecta--mathematics, natural science,

latin, English, greammar, ete. Apparently the scademy did
8 certain amount of ¢ollege work also, for one student went
from %this asademy and was accepted as a Junior at Kansas
Universitys. The school was maintained by income Prom tultion.
Tultion charges amounted to $22Lg per person per year in
1894, The bulldinge were esshimated to have & value in 1884
of $2,250.5

Saint John's High School: This school, located at
Belolt, Kansas, is a Catholie high school established by the
Sisters of St, Joseph in 1920. The schoel follows the state

) 1 colwnbian istory of Education Kansas (Topeka:
Press of Hamilton Printing %Empmy, 18037, Pe 168

2 A+ Ro Miller, Glen Elder, Kansaa, Personal Letter,

1928.
3 A, R. Miller, loo. git.
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course of study offers college preparatory snd commercial
courses, It has sn average attends

idance of fifty students.
Income to maintain this uéhwl ig derived from tultion and
from funds supplied by the cmreh.® sSt. Jonn's High Sebool
is & high sehool of the Concordia DﬂOOOIth

Iipten High Schogly This school, located at Tipten,
EKensas, 1s & Cstholic high school founded in 1919 and has
been conducted sinees that time by the Sisters of St. Joseph.
The school was conducted on the eight-four plan. That is,
eight grades in elementary school and four grades in second-
ary school, The sg¢hool has an average enrcllment of forty-
twe, snd is gupperted by tultion and conﬁ‘aribumemﬂ The

sehool is in the Gamardia Diocese .;8

% sister Stanlsteus, Balaw, Kenaas, Fersonal Letter,
January 24, 19386.

5 R. Jo Bollig,
Kansas 1836-1032 (8t, le

Ps Izs
6 Ibid., p. 88.

¥ Re Jds Bcllﬁ.g, m. m;

story of Catholie Bducation in
Hiv ‘, ThdTanas Abbey Press, 1933),

8 Ibidc, P 128,




CHAPTER XXXIV
NEMAHA COUNTY

Ihe Albany scedemy: This academy wes established ot
the old town of Albany, Nemahe Vounty, Kansas, in 1871,
The ncademy originated under the joint sponsorship of the

school district, the church, and the commnity, The acedemy
was & nabural development of the trend of thought then called
the Progressive 8chool, It was & very active school during
ites short term of existence, The academy was not dencminae-
tional although the local ehurch played an importent part in
maintaining and directing the academys The scademy main-
tained two departments, the higher elassical, which corres-
ponded roughly to a high school, and the lower department,
which approximated am ungraded slementary system, Some of
the subjects taught in this academy in the year 1871 weret
grammar, anelysis, higher arithmetie¢, algebra, bookkeeping,
Latin {both beginning and advanced), German, French, end
philosophy., Mr. end Mrs. James E. Vose of Antrim, New Hampe
shire wers the teachers. The school was maintained in three
terms: a fall term of fourteen weeks, a winter term of
fourteen weeks, snd a spring term of eight weeks. The school's
finaneisl esteblishment received most of its assistence from
the Albany Church which loaned the school §630.00 without
interest. The Congregational Home Missionary Unlon loaned
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the school $500.00 without interest., Maintenance of the
institution was paid through tuition fees whiech amounted to
$6.00 for the entrance into the higher classical department
and $3.50 for the lower department, OCertain other special
feos were charged. For instance, bookkeeping cost oi.w
extra chayge per term, Yriting and sommereial penmanship
had an extrs charge of $1,00 per term, The academy possesse
ed ons frame dormltery, two stordes high, bullt in 1871,
For classrooms, it made use of a one-story stone bullding used

by the Albany people as a churgh., In 1873 a railroad, the

st, Joaeph and Demvgr, gcame to this vieinity, It did not
pass through Albeny, se the tewn of Albany, taking the neme

of Sabetha, broke up and moved %o a new location on the rail-
road whichk happened at this point teo be on the old Denver an 4
California wagon traills ®ince the whole town took part in
this move, the academy was diaoont;imdd at this time--1873,

and the Albeny Academy became a ghost school in a ghost town.l

l E. B. Blosson, Sabetha, Kansas, Porgonal Letter,
NHovember 28, 1934.



CHAPTER XXXV
YEOSHO COURTY

Saint Ann's scademyr This scademy, founded at St.

Paul, Kansas, has been In existence since 1847 begimning as

a girls! school for Indlanss} It was mot wunil 1870, however,
that the schooliwas chartered as 8t. Ann's Acadcly.' The
origin of this school may properly be eredited to the early
Catholic mlssionsries and to the Osage Indians headed by
Father Paul,” The bulldinge for the original sehool, bhat
ia, the girle' Indlien Sehool, were provided by the governw

ment s

1 Thirteenth Blennlal Re ort State Superintendent o
Public Instructiont Kensas LO0L~i002 (Topeka: otate Printe
Tng Offlce, 1002), pps 95-108. a

2 5 '
Re Js Bollig, History of Catholie cation in
Kansag 1836-1932 (5t. iaInraa, Indiana: The Abbey Press, 1933),
pu sat . .

5'thhar Pongiglione was born Feb, 11, 1818 in the
eity of Cherasen, Tuscullum, a fashionable summerrresort of
the upper classes of Turin, Pledmont, Italys His father was
Count Felice Ferrero Ponziglione di Borgo d'Ales. Hls mother
waes Countess Ferrsro Ponsiglione nee Marchioneass Fararl dl
Castelnuove of the royal family of Italy, The baptismal
name glven to Father Ponzlglione was Count Paul ¥. Ferrero
Ponziglione di Borgo di1 Ales. Besldes being a Ferrero and
& Ponziglione he was a Ouerrera, hls father's mother belng
the Countess of Guerrera and the last of that anclent and
noble Italien family. There are male descendents of the
Ferreros living in Italy but Father Paul (Ponziglione), as
he was known in Kensas, war the last male deseendent of the
ancient femilies of Guerrers and Ponziglione and those names

died with him.
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As the school grew, the govermment provided new buildingss
Although the girla' achool was conducted by the Sisters of
Loretto, both boys' and gir}a' schools were under the control
of the Jesult Order, In October 1, 1850, Pather Schoenmakers,
in his report to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, says: |

With regerd to the female department, noth
has heen left undone to lnsure pormf.nmt m;“”’ins
belng well aware that the progress of elvilizstioen
and the wellare of a rising nstion greatly depends
upon the female members of soelety, for they mre to
Inatill the first prineiples of virtue and morals,
the fountalnsg of a future happy generation, The
pupils are edugated under the care and guldance of
gix relliglous ladles, whe devote all their attention
to the mental end moral improvement of their pupilss
They sra taught spelling, reading, writing erlthe
meklc, and geography and besides, certain hours are
seb epart for knitting, sewing, marking, embroidery,

The sdventuresome zeal of the Jesults sre a matter
of American History nseding no discussion here., There are
explained in Mys Graves'! book some of the reasons, largely
politiesl, as to why a nobleman of Pongiglione's standing
should heve become 2 priest but the th important te this
rasearch 13 his work at the school esteblished at Osage NMission
at 80 early a dsbte as 1847. There were assoclated wlth
Father Paul soon sfter his arrival Reverend Father Jobn
Schoenmakers, & young Jesult priest from Helland, and
Mother Supsrior Bpldget Hayden, a nun from the order of
S4s ters Doretbo from Kentuckys There is mention also of
one Fathsr (arlas de ls Crolx who visited the mission in
1822 and baptigzed two Indlans, James and Francis Chotesu-=
the Mrst within Kensss. The first marriage ceremony of
record in the territory was that of Francls Deboesu, 8
half breed and Mary, an Osage women, performed by a Father

Van (uilckenbourne in 1889.
Mpther Bridget Hayden, co=-worker with Fathers
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eto. DBetween school hours they are engaged in the
pceupstions ‘of domestiec economy. As the building fer
this female school was intended to mccommodate only
twenty pupils, 1% follows that 1t is much too small.®

In 1870, due to the influx of white settlers and to
the removal of the Indians, the school became a boarding
spademy for white girls chartered under the name of St. Anh' 8¢
This 2 chool offered all the ordinary scademic subjects and in
addition painting and muaimg Turing the time in which the
gschool wes conducted & s school for Indian children, the
schopl wes meintsined through the assistance of the governe
ment by government grants. These grants amounted to $55,00
per ysear per 6h11d.® The school posseszed two bulldings, one

erscted in 1870 and one in 1881, The value of thls bullding

— -

Schoenmakers and Ponziglione arrived with her small
pard pf nuns in Osage MIssion October 6, 1847,

(Taken from W, W, Graves's EarlyCJesuits at Osage
Wlassiony St. Paul, Kenses: V. W, Craves, Publisher, IEIG,
%hd 8 Persomal Letter from J. As Cennon, Superintendent
of Sghools at St. Paul, Lensas)

4R, I Bollig, ops 21%., D 34,

5 Ibld., ppe 36-37.

6 .., w, Graves, Barly Jesults at Osage Mission
(St. Paul, 4@nsass We. W, Oraves, publisher, 1918),
Pps 188-1894
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wag eabtlmated to be §70,000 in igé% vhen 1t burned, After
the destruetion of this building, the academy was discontimmed,

In 1914 the Sisters of Loretto returned to St Paul
and have been teaching in the parochiel school at St, Paul
slnge that times? Thety avowed intention 1s to someday rebuild
Ste Ann'e Academys The antecedent conditioms leading up &o
the remerkable Cetholic settlement one may find 4in the little
Kansas town of St, Paul, are typleal of the determined and
high minded 1dealism of the Catholle Missionary, Briefly,
the prlncipsl events are thess: The Roman Catholle Biohobﬁ
of New Orleans, Right Reverend Mubourg, in 1820, was asked
by the Osage Imﬁi&hs, whe then lived to the west of St
Charl es, Misseurl, togive them a miseglonary. The request
came &t a time the Blshop was in Wissouri, which constituted
the northern reglon of his diocese, snd was granted. Reverend
Charles de la Croix was qulck to organize e school for Indisn
boys and one for the girla of the tribes. TUpon his death
Reverend Father Charles Van Quickenborne succeeded him and
aeccompanled the Osages to the #ullayw of the Neosho and Verde-
gris in Kensas st the hriﬁe'a removal 9 that reglon in 1826 and

and 1827, The new settlement eonelsted of some fifteen or

7 Ibid., ps 879,
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elghteen Indian towns eentering about St. Frances (now 5t.

Paul) or Osage Mlssion, as the whole group was known, Osage
Mission was established in April 1847. ‘The Manmal Labor School
for boys and the convent conducted by the Sisters of Loretto
were alsov establlshed at that time., The convent for Indian
girles grew through the years to be the éhnrtorod Ste Ann's
Academy In 1870, No more interesting svet historlcelly may
be feund In Kansas than the site of the 014 Osage Mission,
towering Bt. Prancls of Jerome's Chureh, the Passionist
Monastery and the atmosphere of service to God and Mankind
that has prevailed here for nearly s century.

Saint Franels Aecademy: This academy, like 5t, Ann's,

was loceted at Sts Paul and was established in 1847 to care
for the educational needs of the Indlan children. As Ste
Ann's was sonfined to the education of Indian girls, se

3%« Franeis, or as 1@%& f£irst known, Osage Mission Mammal
Labor Sghool, was intended to meet aduoatiml‘ nesds of the
Indian boys,® As was the case at St. Ann's, the school was
originally conducted as an Indien schoel end received assis~
tance from the Government te defray part of the expenses of

such instruction. QCovernmental assistance was, however, not

8 R, J, Bollig, loc. elit.

5557
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enough to defray all the expenses incident &o melntaining-
this school@ Father John Schoenmakers says in his letter
to the Commdssioner of Indilam Affaeirs, Washingbon, D. Cuj
dated May 20, 1853

However great my desir¢ may be of edueating

sald children, unless I received $55,00 per anmum For

board end tuition of each child, I could not contimue

their education. Having learned from six years'

experience has cost me $800.00 per year sxtra of

the adgcution fund st $55:00 per annum for each

child, _ S

The sabjects taught in this sehosl during the time

that 1t was conducted as an Indien sehoeol, include what ve
would call elementary subjects, such as penmsnship, arithe
meti ¢, geozraphy and grammar, The school alss teught sgrie.
culture and provided practical tralning through the menuel
labor featuro.lo As was the cage with 8t Amn'p Sehoel, -
the removal of the Osage Indians in 1870 ceused the school
%0 become incorporated as a white school at that time under
the name of St. Francie Institution for boys with FPather
Schoenmakers ag president and Fﬁﬁhar~?onslgliane as secrebary.
Tn 1872, a college bullding of stome eomstructlon was erectad.

The school Plourished for twenty years and at one time had as

9 e Via Grﬁ?ﬁg, 199«‘ ﬁit*
10 g, J. Bollig, 9P+ clbe, DDs 33-34.
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many a8 two hundred students enrolled. Not only did students

come from surrounding territory, but some students came from
djetant states and even from old Mexleco. In 1891, the Jesults,
who annti‘umw the school, decided to consolidate St. Franels
with St. Mary's College, which they also controlled. Thus,

in 1891, the schoul wee closed and the history of 8t. Francis
Institution for hoyp came to an end: The examct amount of the
endowment #f this scheel ie not known, but pert of it was
derived fyom the ssle of town lots held by the Jesults end a
eonsidersble smount aequired by gifts from the Osage Indlens
for whose benefit this school was established and who retained
thremghout thelr experience with the order the kindllest feel-
ings toward the Jesults and thelr Mammal Lnbdr Schools As
before mentioned, part of the expenses of the eriginal Indian
gehonl were paild by the governments That these contributions
did not defray all the expenses may be seen from the faet
that 1t wes necesssry for the Jesult Order to make up a
deflalenay of $1500.00 in 1854, The insltution possessed

one three-story stone bullding and a residence house for the

Fath e:mwll

11 Ip1d., ppe 34-36.



CHAPTER XXXVI
POTAWATOMIE QOUNTY

Academy of the Sacred Heart; Originally the Academy
of the Sacred Heart was established on SBugar Greek near the

pregent town of Centerville, Kansas., In 1848, the scademy
moved t¢ St Mary's and continumed at that town until the
date of its discontinuance in 1879, at which time the muns
clogsed the school and transferred to another locality, The
school was established as a school for Indiam girls by the
Ladles of the Sagred Heart, In conjunction with the Jesuit
Order, the Sisters maintained a school kmown as the Sugar
Creek Indien Sehool which, like the Indian school at Osage
Mission, was partially e manual laber sehool,. school
was established among the Potawatomle Indians and when the
Potawatomie Indians moved from the region of Iimn County

to their later location near the Kansas fiver, close to the
present site of St, Mary's, the Sisters went along and re~
established their school at S8t Mary's in 1848, The Sisters
wore quite supcessful in their attempt te teach the Indian
girls, For one reason, the girls were sceoustomed to work,
something that the Indian boys were not. The school made
steady progress from year to year, DBy 1868, the number of
white settlers around 8%, Mary's hed inereased to the point
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that Catholic members of the community desired to send their
students to the Academy of the Sacred Heart, Consequently,
the children of the whites were admitted to the school.

As soon as this was done, the government warnmed the school
that the allowsnce made to the school by the government for
the purpose of educating the Indians would be discontinued
since the school wes no ldngor & distinetly Indian school.
Govermment ald cessed in June, 1871L. In 1879, the Ladies
of the Saered Heart closed the academy and left the tomn.t
As was the cese with the Osage Manual Labor School, this school
during the time that it wes an Indian school, received
government aid, After 1871, all govermment aid was diseon~
tinued., The school possessed one large stone l'mi.l.d.tng.2
Immaculate Gonception High School: This school was
founded at St, Mary's im 1900, It is a parish high school
for girls only, for until the time of the discontinuance of
the 8t, Mary's College in 1931, the edusational needs of
the Catholie boys were cared for by the academy of St, Mary's
College. Immaculate Coneception High School is a Gatho!_.ia
parish high school founded largely hrough the inspiratiom
and efforts of the Reverend Joseph P, DeSm>t. The school

. Re J« Pollig, Hist of Qatholie Education in
Kansas 1836-1932 (St., Melnrad, TnaTane: The Abbey Fress,
» PP» 124,

8 Ib’.do, po 24!
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began itas career as a three«ysar high sehool and eontinued

as such untll 1911 when the ¢ourse was expanded to four years
and two full-time teamchers engaged. In 1919, the school was
placed on the aceredited list of the Kansas State Board éf
Eduecation. In 1928, the school was reported to have an en~
rollment of seventy-five., It has four inabruetormgﬁ

" Saint Mary's Cpllege: This sechool, founded at S8t..
Mary's, Kansas, was the result of slow development. I
began &s an Indian scboél established among the Potawetomles
in 1839 in Tinmn County. When the Potawatomies moved %e the
banks of the Kansas River in 1840, the school moved wlth
-tbem sné re~gstablished itself near the present site of
'St. Mary's. Oraduslly, ss the number of white settlems in
the vicinity incressed, whites were admitted to this scheol,
which was strictly s boys' school conducted by the Jesult
Fathers, In 1871, government payments for Indien educatlien,
which had been of important assistance to the Indlan sehopl,
were discontinned beeause whites were now attending the
Indian school, and the school was no longer exclusively an
Indian schoulgév The school then became an academy finaneing

itself upon its own resources, bLhe gsslstence of the communlty

3 Ipid., p. 68.
4 1vid.,Pp. 12-23.
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end the Catholic Order of the Jesuit Fethers. Graduelly
this academy expanded to take in college work, The academy
wag conblnued as a department of the college until the
latter's dlsecontinuance in June, 1951@5 During the time
that the Iinstitution was maintained as & manual labor school
for Indlana, the course of study in the school consisted of
some lanpguage work and some wmanual lsbor. Sohosl subjects
were btaught in both the Xnglish and the Indisn languagea.e
The Jesult Fathers who conducted this schopl, had some
dlffleulty with the Indian boys, for among the Indians, men's

¥

work oonsisted of hunting and flshing and making war. Am

an academy for white chlldren, the school offered academic
subjects which prepared directly for callege.B At the time
the college was closed, the college possessed fourteen bulld-
ings and excellent facillities for research work. In addltion

to the esmpusg, the college oossessed a tract of 2,100 scres

9

of land under cultivation.” The enrollment in the acedemy

10

in 1912, smounted to two hundred fifteen. Income singe

© Ipid., p. 28.
6 Iblde, pe 13
7 Ibid., p. 4.
. Ibid., ps 27.
9 Ibid., p. 26.

10 pighteenth Biennial Report State Superintendent of
Public Instruction: ‘ansas 10LI-1%Ll2 (Topeks: State Print=
En{‘: 5£.f{0@, Igig,, e W\ o
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the discontinuance of the govermment grants, has been maine
talned through the efforts of the Jesult Order and tultion
fees of the Institutlion, 1In 1931, St. Mary's College was
¢losed and the institublon converted into a theological
peminary for members of the Society of Jesus commonly Jmown

as the Jamitaumﬁ

11 Ra e Bollig, B’Eo __c._@_t., Do 28,



CHAPTER XXXVII
PRATT COUNTY

Baptist College; In the summer of 1881, arrange-

ments were made by the Soubth Central Baptist Assoclation
of Kansas and the oltizens of Pratt for the establishment
of & college 1ln that city. Professor J. S, Gashwiler was
chosen as Presldent and the college was formally opened
September 14, 1891, The college, which beliled its name
and really conalsted of an academy and the four upper
grades of elementary work, was housed in a two-story
frame bullding donated by the clty. The academlc work
consisted of Engllsh, natural sclence and c¢classical and
modern languages. The school also had a department of
art and music and offered a theologleal tralning cowrse
for ;oung men preparing b6 gnter the ministry. The aver=
age enrollment of the college in all departments during
its two years exlstence was one hundred and elghty-seven.
The school possessed five instructors, one of whom, H.

%+ Shrack, who taught mathematles in the sollepge, stlll
lives in rratt. The school was clossd in 1803, UNo re-
cords of the school ean be found in the reporta elther

of the State Superintendent of Public Instructlion or of
“he United States Commissioner of Education, so Iinformation

as to the amount of endowment possess~d by the college

s
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gnd its sources of lncome 1a laoklng-1

1 g, A. Eubank, County Superintendent, Pratt County,
Personal Letter, April 3, 1935.




CHAPTHER XXXVIII
RAWLIKS COUNTY

Saint Mary's High Sehool: This school, located at

Herndon, Kansas, was founded by the Cathollc Church in 1929,
This founding was really a gradual development er outgrowth
of a grade school which had been in éperation since 1888,

In 1932, 8t. Mary's High School was aceredited by the State
Board of mducation, The school offers a college prepara=
tory course with strong business course electives. The or=-
ganlzation of the achool is on the so-called "slght=four®
plan. In 1934, the enrollment in the high school was forty-
three, The school is maintalned as a Catholiec pareochial
high school and supported by tultlen fees being charged for
work in the school. In sddition te that, the high school
recelves financlal assistance from the 8t. Mary's Catholie
Parish of Herndon, Kansas¢1 The schoel is in the Concordia
Dlocese.g In this county are also Trinity Evangellcal
Lutheran Parochial School at Ludell, end Immanuel Lutheran
Parochlgl School in the same tonn.a The latter are not of

secondary rank.

Sister Mary de Pazzl, Herndon, Kansas, Personal
Letter, December 6, 1934.

2 B & Bolllg, History of Cathollc Lducation in
Kansas 1836-1932 (St, Melnrad, Indlana, The Abbey Iress,
[gss)’ Pq ES&

% Sister Mary de Pazzil, loc. cit.



CHAPTER XXXIX
RENO COUNTY

Breess College Academy: This school, located at

Hutchlnson, EKansas, first opened as = Bibie Tralning School
on October 16, 1906. It was operated solely as such until
the fall of 1910 when the high school course was first added.
This high school course was only a thrée~yaar course until 1914,
when it was enlarged to Include the fourth year. Since

that time, the school has continued to glve high school work,
In 1929, the academy was placed on the aceredited list of the
State Board of Education and it has remalned an accredited
high school since that time. The school still maintains a
Bible training course which is separate and distinct from
the academic course, From time to time, junior college or
 post-graduate work 1s offered, The school was first opened
by an independent Holinesa Church, which later united with
the Church of tﬁe Nazarene. Iﬁ 1915, the school was ascepbed
by the Kansas distrlict of the Nazareth Church and the school
remains under the supervision of that church. The present
snrollment in the school is around seventy-five. The school

lists four depeartments at the present tlma}'

& R. R« Hodges, Princlpal of Bree.e College, Hutchlnson,

Kansas, Personal Letter, hovember 15, 1934,

’




CHAPTER XL

RICE COUNTY

Sterling College: This school, located at Sterling,

Kansas, began 1ts career bearingithe name of Cooper Memorlal
College. It was founded In 1886 by the United Presbyterian
Church snd has been continued by that chareh to the present
time although the name by which the college 1s known has
.been changed twlce in succeedlng years. In 1911, the name
of the collesge.was echanged from Ceoper Memorial College o
Cooper College.* In 1919, the name was aguln changed; this
time to Sterling College, by which name it 1s known at the
prasent,l As was true of many other Kansas denominational
schools, 3terling College or Uooper College as it 1s variously
known, maintained a strong preparatory course or academy
throughout the early years of 1ts existence. However, as
time psssed and the public high schools of the State of
Kansas more adeguately fulfllled their fénctions, the pre=
paratory department of this school gradually lessened 1n
importance. In 1919, the preparatory department conducted
as such in Cooper College, was dlscontinued., At that time,

the school had eleven students enrolled in the department.

1 Bulletin or Sterlin College, 1920-1921 (Sterling:
Catalog number, o y PP+
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 The college =till offers opportunitles for those whose high
school work 1s deficient to make up such defigleney, and
1ists such atudents as sub-freshmen. The number of these
students 1s, however, very small and requlres no speclal
teachers or equipment.® The academy course offered at
Sterling College was a regular evllege preparatory coursse
plus Bible lessons. At the present time Sterling College
requlres church and dally chapel attendanee.3 All students
are slso re@uired te recite a Bible lesson once a week,

At the time Cooper Memorlal College was founded, the City
of Bterling offered as an inducement %6 the selection of
Sterling as a slte of the Unlted Preparatery College, a tene
acre campus site and g building worth $25,000 1if the United
Presbyterian Church would ralse and expend net less than
$25,000 for the purposes of the callege.% From thls modest
investment of $50,000 in 1886, the school has grown until
now it possesses flve bulldings valued at $260,500, and is
gradually adding to 1ts equipment and bullding program from

time to time.5

2 Ibld., p. B4.
% Ibid., pp. 31=32.
4 1r1d., p. 10,

5 Ipid., p. 15,



CHAPTER XLI
RILEY COUNTY

Sacred Heart Academy: This school, located at Man=-

hattan, Kansas, was established by the Catholios ih Septem=
ber, 1908,1 The school is in the Congordia Diccese of the
Catholic Church and directed by the Sisters of St, Joseph.®
In 1913, the academy added to the regular academic work a
commercial course. The academy clalms to be the first four=-
year secondary school in Manhattan outside of s preparatory
department at one tlme connected with Kansas State 0011030.3
In 1926, it had an enrollment of ore hundred thirty4 and at
the present time, the emrollment remains conalderably over
one hundred. The school 1Is currently financed by tultlon
paid by students and donations from the parish.s

1 pgnes Engstrand, County Superintendent, Manhattan,
Kansas, Personal Letter, November 30, 1834.

2 R, J. Bollig, History of Catholic Education ir
Kansas 1836-1532 (8t. Melnrad, IndTana: WThe Abbey Press,

s P gﬁw
5 Agnes Engstrand, loc. clt.
4

Re Je Bollig’ ﬂv 5_3_!._20, P 84.

. Agnes Engstrand, loc. olt.



CHAPTER XLII
ROOES COUNTY

Stockton Academy: This school, located at Stoekton,

Kansas, was established by the Congregationalists in 1887

and the bullding housing it in 1888.1 Por five years the
achool continued as an institutlion designed as a feeder for
Washburn College at Topeka, During the years of the school's
existence, a Mr, F. E+ Sherman of Stockton waz the prime
mover and force back of the ilmstitution, In 1893, the instie
tutlon was closed because of lack of support by the community.2
. As an lnstitution for musical lnstruction, the school was said
to be unsurpasssed by anything in that part of Kansas, It was
the only school of secondary level in Stockton,® The purposes
of this school as reported by its one-time prineipal, Nr.

F. B, Sherman ars: "Skill and accuracy in the use of flgures
and in the use of the English languege; hablts of promptness,
obedience, thoroughness and consclentious devotien to Christ.
~ and his work, are the best results that can follow from the

work done 1n the acadamy.“4 The usual academlc work for

1 gattorial In the Rooks County Regord, Newspaper,
December 16, 1922.

® Loc. git.

4 A - b : k
Columblen Histery of kducatlon in Kansas (Topeka:
Press of HamllEon PPInting CO.s LOUG), Ps» Ok
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this level and perlod were the content of the Stoekton

Academy. The institution was bullt by the subscriptions
of Stockton people at a cost of sbout 615;000. The bulld=-
ing constructed was architecturally lmposing and located
on a hill ovarlouklng the town of &tockton where it still

houses the public high school of the aommunltyss

5 Rooks County Record, lec. cit.




CHAPTER XLIII
RUSSELL COUNTY

3aint Hdary's High School: This academy was estabs

lished by the Catholles of the Gorham Community in 1922 at
Gerham, Kansss.’ Its emresr has been se shors that very
1ittle ¢an be sald agaut 1t, and perhaps its recent origin
does not properly plaeeﬂlt within the corfines of this study
as & secondary school of academle nature. It L8 ne of the
numerous Catholle high schools of the Concordia Dlocou.2

The sehool is a smell high school enrolling only about twenty
pupils, Income 1s derlved from tultlon fees and provably
through some assistance from the parish although there are ne

data available as to the exact amount.s

4 Sister M, Bernitn, Gorham, Kansas, Personal Lettev,
January 7, 1935,

2 .
R. J. Bollig, History of Cathollec Educatlon in
Fansas 1836-1932 (St.’uo{nrna, Tra¥ana: The Abbey Press,

198%7, p. 85
5 Sister M. Bernlta, loc. @it.



CHAPTER XLIV
SALINE COUNTY

Merymount Academy: This school, loeated at Salina,

Kensas, was esbablished in 1922 by the Sisters of 8t. Joseph

of Concordia, Kansas, a Cethelic e?daw&l

The founding of

" the school first ss an apcademy, now including & fully aceredit-
ed college, ceame ag a response to the inereassing demand for

the higher educatlon of Catholic women. By this time, WNazareth
seademy at Concordia, had become unable to care for the increas-
ing number of students who desired to attend. This gave the
establlshment of Marymount impetus. Sallina offers certain
sdvanbages, especislly dld it have better rallroad facilitles
than Concordla, so the college was located at Salina. The
college haz four departmente: first, the eollege proper,

then the academle, prayéraﬁary, and primary departmenta;g
_Theiaacmnﬂary courses offered in the academy asre of regular
high school epllege preparatory level, which includes normal
training. The inatitutﬁnn was chartered by the state in 1925,
The academy alsc includes a comerclal department, musiec

department, art department, and spesiael courses in physical

1 g, 7, Bollig, History of Cotholic Education 1n
Kansss 1836-1938 (St. Melnrad, Indlanas The Abbey rrems,
sy PP« 8%~B4,

2

Yoo, clt,
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educatlon. All Catholie students are required to take courses
in r'eligiom3 One ef the most notewvrthy facts about this
sehool 1s the large proportion of Doctors of Philosophy
| listed as Instructors in its ha113*4 The institution possess~
o8 one large bulldlng, four storles bhigh, including the bases
ment, This bullding contalns three hundred rooms and cen
aceommodate five hundred students, the system being a combinaw
tion of dormitory and private room accommodations. The cost
of the bullding eomplete waz about 3500,000.5 The eollege
1s maintalned through tuition fees and donations from friends
af the orders It is one of the most progressive Catholle
schools in the Middle-west,®

Saint John's Milltary Academy: This school is located

at Salina. It wes established by the Eplseopel Chureh under
the leadership of Bishop B, 8. Thomes who was assisted by
the cltirens of Salina. The charter, granted by the State
of Kansas in 1887 provided for nine trustees, the majority
of them to be eltizens of Kanses and members of the Episcopal

Church. The school intends to prepare the cadets for college

‘ 3 catalogue of Marymount Agademy (Salina: Fumber 2,
1928), P« 7o

4 Catalogue of Marymount Academy (Salins: Number 1,
1955)’ ppn '?-10.

8 . J. Bollig, ops clt., pps 83~B4.

: Catalogue of Marymount Academy, 10356, 0p. e,
pi 53 ]
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or for commerciasl life or bothe The school malntains military
disclpllne with rules and regulstions modeled after those of
West Point, using uniforms like those worn at the National
Aoademy.7 There are regular grants of arms end ammnition
from the United States Army.a The school maintained three
distinet courses of study In 1892: classieal, which consisted
of two years of Greek, four yeers of Letin, and four years
of mathematicsj s course which 1s a combination of liberal
subjects known as Latin and English course; and a course
chlefly commerclal, known as the Englishecommercial couru«g
No very greaf varlation in the general principles of this
ecurriculum have gcarred except to modernize the subject
matteor. The school 1s maintained largely through the pros=
céeds of tultion fees. The valuatlon of all the buildings
as ordgionally erected, was estimeted to Le 368,500.10
In 1908, a new gymmasium and barracks was added and a year
later a building to house the Junior School. These bullde

ings are loceted on & fine ecampus which includes a parade ground.

7 Thirteenth Blennlal Report State Superintendent
of Public LAstruchion: KANSas EQUIJIQUE”CWopokax —Ttate
ﬁ:inEelf', 1969,, pp; 95"‘162.

Ma jor J. S. Welr, U, S. M, A, Commandant, Personal
Letter, 1928,

9 Columbian History of Education in ¥ansas (Topelas
Press of Wamilton Printing Go., 1898), p. 85,

10 1bid., p. 6.
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The total size of the campus 1s fifty acresall The present
rector of the school is Kight Reverend R. H. Mize, De« D4,
Bishop of Sallna,

Sacred Heart High 8chool: This school, founded at
Salina, Kansas, was the firstiparish high sehool established
In the Coneordia Diocese. It was established in September,
1908 and 18 conducted by the Silsters of St. Joseph of Con-
cordia. In 1912, the school was aceredited by the State
Board of Eduecations In 1926 this school had an enrollment
of one hundred thirtwaiveulz, The sechool continues to be
an enterprising school and is quite active in extra-cirri-
culer activities. It is regularly represented in the State
Scholarship Conteats conducted by the Kansos 8tate Teachers
College of Emporia and usually renks high in 1ts class. In
1934, the basketball team representing this school won the
state championship in Class B for the 8tate of Kansas. The
high school heg the usual tultlon scheme of support used
by most Cathollic high schools.

11 mhipteenth Biennial Report, loc. cit.

A———

12 R, J. Bollig, op. elt. ps 8B.



CHAPTER XLV.

SEDGWICK COUNTY

Fairmount College Academy: This academy was founded
in 1892 a2z Felrmount Institute and conbtimued throughout 1ts
career &£s g depariment of Fairmount Csllege. The institue
tion, including the college which was founded the same yoEr,
was established ms the result of the desire of a nunber of
progressive citigzens of Wiechita, that an institution of high-
er learning and strong religlous standerdas be established 4in
the citys, 1In 1895, the school begen recelving support from
the Congregatlional Educational Specleby, which organization
gradually became the contrelling foree in the 1llife of the
college until‘gsggal In this year the school was taken under
the control of the city of Wichlite and re-named, Wichits
Municipal University. DBy this time, however, the ascademy
department had long sinee coased to funetlon, sinece the last
report for the acsdemy is dated 1918 and 1ists mniy eleven

students enrolled.? In 1892 the gollege and soademy offered

1 Fairmount College 1920-1981, bulletin, Vol. XVII
(wichite: Aprili, 1921, No. LV), Pp» 12-16.

2 oyenty-first Bisnpisl R&%Q?t State Superintendent
of Publie Instruetion: Ksnsas 1 1018 (Topeka: sState
Printin. Plant, 1018), De 800s —
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English, classical, melentific, normal, music, and the art
courseSsS The Institution received liberal support from the
Congregational Educational Soelety and from friends of the
school, Doth In the Bast and in the West. For this reason,
the school was not entirely dependent upon tuition charpges
for current support, although these fees were furced to carry
a large part of the school expenses. The institutlion possess«
es six principal bulldings and a éampus of aome twenty acres.

Friends Universityv Preparatory School: This scademy

or preparatory school, located at Wichite, Hansas, 18 &
department of Friends Univarsity,4 and was opened 88 was

the college, in 1898, It was established by the Soclety of
Friends Churech largely through the efforts of James W, and
Anna T. Davis of Wichita, Kansas, The college, called Friends
University, was founded to supplement the work pf the numerous
academies of the Soclety of Friends alreedy exlsting in
Kansas at or prior to that time.5 The preparatory school

was intendad to provide the advanteges of secondary educa-

tion under what that denomination considered the highest

3 '
Columbian History of Education in Kansas (Topeka:
Press of Hamilton PPinbing CDe, 1BUS), Ds B08+

% Esther Hoff, registrar, Frlends Univeraity, Persinal
Letter, January 25, 1936.

B
Friends University 1916-1917, bulletin, Vol. XIX
(Wichita:™ Viehl tTT_P%a gle Press, 1017, No. V), p. 1l.
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type of Christian environment.® ‘e type of ocurriculum offers
ed was sffected by the fact that the "Frliends" believe there
is no true educatlion without & development of spiritual, as
well as, physical and menbal wollwming.v The courses were
generally aeademic in nature. In 1917, the academy reached
in numbers, slx insbtructors and elghty-three studentu,a but
in the last year of its exiatence in 1922, it had an emroll

1

ment of only aightasn.g The school started ite existence
wlth an endowment of fifty thousand dollers,l0 but income
for the present college and former academy was, and now is,
derived principally through tultion fees and donations.
Lewis Academy: Thls academy was first located at

Wichite, Xansas, and was founded in 1884 by sct of the
Presbybery of HEmporis in executlive session at Arkansas Clty
in Aprll, 1884 as Wichlta Acsdemy, but was not opened until
1886 at which time it took the name "Lewis Academy”, The
name was changed Iin 1ts cherter in recognition of endowment

eontributed by Mpr, H, W. Lewis. The scliool was founded by

Ibide, pps 45-46.
Ibidn, pr 1l
Iblde, PP+ 45«46,

© o = &

nather Hoff, loe. elt.

10 yriends University, 1916-1917, op. cit., p. 1l.
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the Presbyterians end was under the control of the Presbytery
of EZmporia. Blble Study wa: en lmportant element of the
eurriculum, ut the school was non-sectariasn in nature.it
In 1910, the school was transferred from Wichita to Emporia
and made a department of the College of Emporia, which is
a Presbyterian schosl. In 1912, the scademy was disgentinued
because it was found that the work of the academy was being
adequately cared for by the public high seheols.la During
the time iIn which the academy wss in existence, it offered
classical, selentific, normal and college preparatory courses
and, while yet in Wiehita, a kindergerten course. Income for
the academy ceme chlefly through voluntary gontributiens and
the tultion fees charged. In 1898, before the remeval %o
Emporlia, the institutlion possessed bulidings valued st
275,000,158 |

Mount Carmel Academy: This school was founded in

vichital? in 1887 by the Sisters of Charlity of the Blessed

Virgin llary, whose metherhouse is in Dubuque, Iowa, at which

11 Thirteenth Biennial Report State Superintendent of
Public Instruction: Kensas 1901-1002 (lopexas obate Print-

Ing Office, 1002), ps 90s

1z Seventeenth Bilennlal Report State Superintendent of
Public Instruction: Ransas LO09~109.10 (Topeka: ocaLe Print-
ng 0ffice, 1910); PDs De~b3,

/

13 golumblan History of Education in Kansas, op. cit.,
Pe 94.

14 C. F. Burns, Growbth and Nevelopment of the Catholie
School System in the Unlted Sfates (New vorr, 1912, D» 26.
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time 1t was known as All Hallows Aondemw.la The school is

for girls only and is conducted by the Sisters of the order
mentioned. Four Sisters came to Wichita at the invitation

of Reverend M. Qasey, at that time administrator of the
diovese. When the achool was first opened, it enrolled twenty«
three puaplla and included meny non-Catholics. The school

greﬁ to such an extent that fregquent additlions were necessary.
In 1900, a wing costing $60,000, housing the chapel, audit=
orlum, misie studlos, gymasium, dining halls and dormitories,
wap added to the original tullding., In spite of thies increase
in facilitles, in 1906, the bullding had to be enlerged

again, and in 1982, a residence hall was constructed whiech
alsoc housed the commercial department. The academy offers
among 1ts subjeets, college preparatory courses, classical

cour ses, domestlic sclence, music and commerclal work,16

Other subjeects offered sre, conversational French, daneing,
sxpression, art appreciation and rhythmie orehestra.17
Income ;aa largely through tultion fees. A uniform of a

olain black dress is required for Sunday. For regular school

15 Mount Carmel Academy, 1953-1034 (Catalog, Wichita:
1934), po. 1=«

16 L,oc. cit.

17 %, J, Bollig, History of Catholic Edueation in
Kansas 1836-1932 (St. XMeinrad, InmdTana: The ACbey Fress,

] pp . 8m0
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wear, navy blue serge uniforms are roquirod.la In 1931, a
new feature was added called "Country Day School", offering
courses from kindergarten to sixth grade inclusive whiech
included transpertetien, mid-morning lunch, supervised play,
hot luncheon and afternoon sieste, as specilal foaturaa.lg

Roe Indign Institute (now The American Indlan Instituts):

This sehool was establlished in 1915 by Mary C. Roe and Henry
Hoe Cloud as & practlcal and useful memorial to the works

of Dr. Welter (. Roe, who had spent mach time laboring among
the Indlans of the mouthwest., 1In 1920, the name was changed
to American Indien Institute, m name felt to be more in keep-
ing with the work of the institution. In 1087, the schoel
came under the contrel of the Board of National Missions

of the Presbyterian Chureh in the United Stetes of America.
Until 1833 the institution maintained a fully accredited
high school, but in that year sdopted a new policy. The
students of the lnstltute were senrelled in the high schools
of Wichitas or the colleges of that eity, and only lived at
the institution under its regulations. Tultion and trans-
portation of the students is furnished by the Government of
the United States. It i1s felt that this methed, by offering

18 Mount Carwel Academy, 1922-1925 (Sup lement, Wichita:
1925),pps 5B

19 Re Jo Bﬂlliﬁ, ml Oit'

b sy
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the Indlan young people competition with white students,
better prepares the Indian students for their proper places
in later 1life. The Institutlon's suppert somes largely
through donsations from organizations and individuals and the
Unlted States Goverument Indian Agonoionm

Seint Jehn's Academy: This sehool was established

at Wichita, Xsnsa#,April, 1902 when the Sisters of the Most
Precious Blood of the Cathollce order, whose motherhouse

is at‘ Ruma, I1linois, through thelr Vicaress Mother Clemen~
tine, purchased from the Right Reverend J. J. Hennessy, his
residence and six acres of land. Here tbéy proceeded to estabe
lish an scademy for girls and a school for boys under twelve
years of ages« The sechool was opened in Septemover, 1902 wlith
elght voarding sehool sbudents, thirty-six day school students
and thres instructors. By 19804, there were so many applications
for boys to board at the schosl, that the Slsters boughb.

an g dditionsl houee snd ten more acres of land and enlarged
the buildings they already possessed. In 1914, the Slsters
completed 2 new boys! school at a cost eof §57,000. In all,
between 1902 and 1914, the Sisters spent $86,922, By 1922,
more room was needed #p & new structure was bullt to house

the academy. Thie bullding cost $200,000, In 1981, the

#

20 gygtory of American Indlan Institute (vichitas
Brief one-page history of Lhe Institution, 1934).
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boye! school was annmmed when Wichita was made a separate
province of the Sisters of the Most Precious Blood, necessite«
bing the establishment of a novitiste at St. John's. High
school work was not offered until 1918+ In 1924, the school
became affillated with the Catholic University, Washington,

Dy B and in 1926, was aceredited by the State Board of
Education of Kansae. The academy inecludes primery, prepara-
tory, academic and musie departmentss Althou-h the Sisters
maintalned a boys' school, only boys under twelve years of
age werse admitted, 2l

Salnt Mary's Catbedral High School: This school,

193@_&:9& at Wichita, Kansas, 1s the oldest parish high school
in the Wichita Dioceses It was first opened in 1888 by the
81 sters of Charity. In 1298, the Sisters of St. Joseph, of
Wichita, took charge of this school. In 1900, sn attempt was
made to establish e boys' high school. This institution
existed only about two years and in 1908, the boys' high
gchool was clpsed. The glrls! division was maintained seper-
ately until 1913, when boys were admitted to the girls’
school. In 1917/, the JXsverian Brothers of Baltimore, s Catho=
lic order, opened & high school for boys and these two schools
were conducted slde by side until 1920, when bLoth boys' and

glrle' high mchools were consolidated in the new $150,000

21 Rq Ja 30111@' _EB' m*, PDs 90“91&
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Cathedral High School bullding. Three brothers took charge
of the boys and three Sisters o S5t+ Joseph took charge of
the girls. After taking up locatlon &% the new bullding,
remarkable growth in the school took place. Although pre-
viously, the combined enrellments had approximeted no more
than seventy, by 1926, the Xaverian Brothers were replaced iy
the Brothers of Mary as instructors. In 1932, the Sieters
of 8%, Joseph took over completely the task of teaching in
the schools, The school is completely equipped, 1s accredited
by the State of Kansas since 1012, and has been affiliated
with the Catholic University of Washington, U, C, sinee
1017,22

22 Ipnid., po. 96-98.



CHAPTER XLVI

SHAWNEE CCUNTY

Assumption High S8chool: This school, located in
Topeka, Kansas, 1s now known as Topeka Catholle High School.
This scheol was opened by Father Francis M. Haydon in 1911
with seventeen students enrolled. The school at first made
use of rooms in the grade bulldings for elassrooms. In 1915,
the Tlrst graduating olass, consisting of five students, left
the school, and by 1929 the total number of graduates of the
school had rilsen to three hundred five. The enrollment 1is
now sround one hundred ninety puplls. The school has been
partlicularly noted in Kansas rmp its hlgh scholastic stande
ing, as hag been evidenced by its high ranking in scholarship
contests econducted both by the Kansas State College at Man~
hattan and by the Kansas 3tate Teachers College at Emporia.
The school 1s fully aceredited and is a member of the Korth
Central Assoclation, The school has & faculty of eight but
does not attempt to glve instruction in «ll subjects fer it
has an arrangement with the Topeka Beard of Education whereby
Instruction in manual training and domestic sclence is glven
the pupils of Assumptlon Catholle High School at the publie
high school bullding and under the supervision of the public
high school instructors. The schoel 18 malntained through a
tuition charge and supported princlpally by the Assumption
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Parlsh of the Catholle Church in Topeka. HSince this school

1s in the nature of a central high school, various other pars
1shes than Assumption Parish in the clty alac contribute a
part of the current expense,l

Bethany College: Thls school was founded in 1861 as

the Eplscopal Female Seuinary, by the Protestant Eplscopal
Church. It suspended apeﬁatian for one year in 1864, bub
re=~opensd in 1865 and continmed in gperaticn until 1928 when
the grounds of the, 1ns‘c1tu£19n were purchased by the Cilty of
Topeka a8 a site for Topeka's new Central High Schools While
the school was in operation, it was maintalned as an exclusive
school for girls under the control of the Eplscopal Church.
In 1871, the school offered the following subjects: penman-
ship, Latin, English, moral and manual selence, natural
sclence, elocution, French, mathematlecs, rhetoric, boteny
and music.? These were later classified into a serles of
coursas known as the Classical Course, the Latin=English
Course, and the English-Commercial Course. The school was
maintained 1argaly through the tultion charges to bosrdling

students and a lesser fee to such young ladles as were day

1 R. J., Bollig, History of Catholloc Bducation in
Kanses 1836-1032 (st.' elnrad, Indlana: The Abbey Press,

s PP« Ppe B7-08.

2 Eleventh and Thirteenth Annual S8tate 8
intendent 0f PuDLLC Instnuotlon: Anlai-IEVT'IB E
| rInTIng Works, 1673), ps169.
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students at the academy. Some of the charges for tuition in
1879~1880 for local or day students were; 1n the primary
department, $5.00 per school session; and in the preparatory
deparhmont, $8.00 per sechool ssssion for the first form
{(freshmen), $9.00 for the second form (sophmores ), $10,00
for the third fwm (Juniors), $11.00 for the fourth form
(senlors).® In 1808, the school's buildings and grounds
were valued at §361,000,% Passage of time enhanced the
value of the property greatly, as the campus was in excess of
two eclty blocks located in the heart of Topeka. As before
mentioned, thls ground is now pccupled by the magnificent
new Topeka Hlgh School. In 1928, the school made its last
report to the State Superintendent of Public Instruction.b

Washburn College Academy: This school, located in

southwest Topeka, was established in 18656. As may be noted
with reference to many of the denominational schools of
Kansas, Wasbhburn College early maintained an academy depart+
ment which was at first the prineipal part of the whole

3
First and Secgond Biennilal Reports State Superin-
tendent of Publlc Instruetioni Kansas 1879-1880 (Topeka:
Kansas publIshing House, 1BB1), P« G209,

4 -
Columbian History of Education in Kansas (Topeka:
Press of Hamllton PPinting Company, 1893), pP.

5 Twenty~seventh Biennial Report State Superintendent
of Public Instruction: Kansas, 1827-1030 (Topeka: Xansas
PI‘inEIng PIanE' IUSI’, Pe .
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institutien. The purpose of this academy department was
to supply elassical training and to prepare studenta for
both the selentifle and colleglats courses.® Prom this
statement, 1t may be inferred that the courses in this .
academy were chlefly preparatory in.nature. The academy
and college subject offered, as 1listed in 1871, inecluded
mental and moral philosophy, Greek, Latln, mathematics,
natural philosnphy,'penmanship, commerce, perspactiﬁe draw=-
ing, palinting, muslc, or as these courses were later grouped;
classical sclentifle, literary and English courses., Washe
burn College has always been one of the moat highly endowed
schools of Kansas, A8 early as 1871, 1t had productive
endowment of $55,000.7 Although 1ts sources of income have
chiefly been tuition fees charged to tbe_skudaﬁta and dona=
tions by the Congregatlonal Church, which ztill controls and
maintainas this school, yet the school has Deen rather free
from financlal difficulty. In 1892, the bulldings and grounds
of the college had grown to & valuation of @488,000.8 Since
that time, the college has maintained and carried forward an

extensivs building program running above the million mark.

& r. D, Whittemore, Reglstrar Washburn College, To~
peka, Kansas, Pe-sonsl Letter, January 2, 19835.

7 Zleventh and Thirteenth Blennial Reports, op. cit.,
pp. 173-174,

3 8 Columbian History of Educatien in Kensas, op. clt.,
P83
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The academy of Washburn College wes discontinued in 1918 and

replacad by Washburn Rural High 8chool, a part of the publie
school system of Kansaa.g

® golumbian H:!.ntorl of Education in Kensas, log. git.




CHAPTER XLVII:
SHERMAN COUNTY

The Clark Academy: This schopl was located at Goodw

land, Kensss, and was probaebly the only academy ever to exist
in Bhermen County, Kansas. Its 1ife was brlef, It opened

1n 1888 and closed two years laters The academy was a private
enterprise, ilts exlstance being largely due to the donation
of the bullding snd the land on which 1t stopd by Mr. Cald«
well of (oodland, Kensas. In honor of the founder of Geode
land, the academy was named Clark Academy. Although this
insiitutiwn was called an academy, the use of thls title was
perhaps somewhat incorrect slnce enly in the upper range of
the three grades taught in thls academy was the work of
scademlic nature. The three grades inte which the students of
this academy were dlvided included the work whiech is now

listed under grades one to nine ineclusive, The agademy had

only two teachers; Mrs, Rebecca Kinner, Superintendent of the
Academy, and Mlss Helena Stewart, now Mrs. J» B. Chambers. The
teachers were pald through tultlon received from the students.
There were forty to fifty pupils enrolled. Since much of thie
tultion was paid in land, the teachers recelved a large part
of thelr salaries in land, The salary of Miss Stewart was
nominally $40.00 per month. In terms of land, this amounted

to six town lots per menth, Dr. Oeorge Norland, President
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of Colorado Unlversity, was at one time a pupll of this

gchool -

1 s, a, Andrews, Kanorado, Kansas, FPersonal Letter,
February 23, 1935.




CHAPTER XINIII
SMITH COUNTY

Oould College: This school was established at Harlan,
Keansas in 1881 under the auspices of the Umited Brethern
Churehs,. The college was intended te give instruetion in the
¢owmon branches, secondary work, and some work of college
grades To this end, the currieulum taught included Greek,
language, mathematics, Latin, Germen, French, science, musiec,
the common brenches, and commercial work.t During its brilef
oxlstence, Gou:!.d College was maintained by the peyment of
tuition which amounted to $21.00 per year per student. The
enrollment of the school gradually deecreased from seventy
students in 1882, the first year after its founding to fifty-
nine students in 1887, which 1s the last repurt made by
this schenl to elther the State Superintendeat or to the
Unlted States cmlliom of Etl\:wa*timnog

1 b=
Third Biennial R t Stete Superintendent of Pu
1ic¢ Instructiont nnu"ﬁ&‘lﬂﬂﬂ (Topo%i: Yansas rablishe
Ing Mouse, 166%2), Pps 120-1El.

B » Eduecntion
Report of the United States Commissioner of Edue
1:86-1887 !E‘uﬁingtom Governmen BITshing OfTice, 10077,
Pe 295.



CHAPTER XLIX

WASHINGTON COUNTY

Weshington Academy: This school wae established by
the Friends Chureh at Washington, Kensss, in 1802, The

sehool was mainbtaimed by the Friends Chureh until 1900, at
which time 31t made its last report to the United States
Commissioner of Education.l The sohool, during the time
1t vraa. maintained by the PFriends Church, was non-sectarian,
but its instruetion inecluded religlous influences of the
most positive character.® The income was derived from
tultion fees a:xd voluntary donationss Some time after 1900,
the a&ad.em' property came under the control of the Baptist
Chureh, but even under this denominetion the institution's
14fe was short, sinee the last report to the State Superine
tendent of Public Instruction wes in 1902, In 1908, the
building which housed the institution was valued at $4,000
and the school pomsessed a 6ampm of eight uru."’ There

N

dommiamr of Educatl Annual Report of Depart~
T 3¢ 'T'Wn_:ﬁingiom Eo'nrmong FrEtIi?!—

J~B17L «

2 .
Golumblan History of RBducation in as (Topeksn!:
Press of Hamilton I’rmﬁ% To., 1803), p. 86,

3 mirteenth Biennial Report State 8§ tendent of
% tion: 5U§-IUW (To EE: gilﬁ Frint-

Public Ing mg “Xansas L )
Tng orfice, s PRe p3-10%
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were no important variences from the type of curricula used

here and at other like institutions of the same period.



CHAPTER L
WYANDOTTE COUNTY

Wilson Academy: This school was a department of the

old Kansas Clty Unlversity, the latter being founded in
1896 as a lMethodlst Protestant College and turned over to the
United Brethern Church in 1913 at which time it was merged
with Campbell College of Holtén and the Lane Unlverslty of
Lecampton.l ~Wilson Academy, or rather Wilson High School,
while a separate departm&nt of Kansas City University, yet
recelved state ald to the amount of approximately 96,000

per ‘ear. The contribution of Kansas Clty University to the
upkeep of Wilson Academy amounted to the furnishing of bullde
ings and teaobers.z The avowed purpose of the school was teo
glve the beat appértunities for educational work, under moral
and religloua 1nfluenoe.3 Perhaps oh acoount of the state
ald which this 1natituti0n recelved, religion was at no

time a separate subjeect 1in the curriculum offered in the

academy. A regular high school course was offered. 5. B,

1 ganasas City University Bulletin, Vel, V (Kansas

Clty, Kansas: Kansas City University, 1018}, p. 14.

£ 3, 8. W1llliams, Kansas Clty, Kansas, Personal Let-
ter, January 29, 1935.

Kansas Clty University Bulletin, Veol. V, op. clt.,

p. 5B
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Williams, former instructor at Kansas City University, writes
that the enrollment 1n the agcademy and college averaged about
one hundred fifty. Other records show the ascademy enrollment
averaged about fifty through the years of 1ts existence.?
Kensas Clty University possessed thres buildings in all, one
of which, Wilson Hall, was set aside for the use of the
academy. In 1927, Wilson Academy was closed largely becaunse
of the lack of cooperation between the authoritles at Kansas
City Unlversity and the Gounty Superintendent of Wyandotte

County.5 A few years later, in 1831, Kansas City University

itself was ciased.e

The Catholie High School: This school, now Ward High

School, of Kansas City, Kensas, wa3 opened September, 1908,

It was a central high school for Kansas City, Kensas, estab~
lished :at. the express wish of the Most Reverend Thomas F.
'Lills, Bishop of Leavenworth. The school opened with twenty-
three freshmen md each yesr a new class was added until in
1911, the school was a full four~-year high school and the
number of teachers had increased from two to five., In January,
1912, the high school was fully accredited by the State

Board of iducsbtion., By 1912, the rooms which the high school

41b1d., p. 114,

5
$. B, Willlams, loc. eit.

Eastiaee J

6 Loc. oit.
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had ocecuplied at the 3t . Pebsr parochial school were outgrown
and under the direction of the Most Reverend Bishop Ward, a
new high school bullding was erected at a cost of approximate=
ly §20,000. After 1912 the enrollment increased even more
rapidly and by 1928 the number of students enrolled amounted
to three hundred-ten. In 1831 a new bullding was agaln
necessary and at this time, the name of the school was changed
from Kansas City, Kansas, Catholic High School, to Ward High
Schools The faculty has grown untll 1t now numbers seventeen.
There are seven prlests, elght Sisters of Charity, and two
coaches.v The school 1s supported by the parish supplemented

by tultlon fees.

’ R« J. Bolllg, Hisfsory of Cathollc Rducatlon in
Kansas 1836~1932 (St. #sInrad, Indilana: The Abbey Iress, 1933),
. pp. 66-87.
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APPENDIX A
TABLE I
LIST OF SCHOOLS S8TUDIED

‘Table I gives the nemes in alphabetisal order of the
schools considered in this study, the date of thelr Pounding,
the place, the religious demomination or other organisation
refponsible for the founding of a given huhool, the dates of
origin srd closing, if such is the case, and the years of oxe
istense, Changes of controlling organization are footnoted.

T SR Fonding — T Tates oF 155 o

Organization Existence Exist-

S R == ot e e
1 Agademy of

Secred Heart Catholio 8t. Mary's 1848-1879 31
2 Albeny Aesdemy Independent Albany 18711873 2
3 Mmmi:ii@n

High School Catholiec Topelka 19011-8¢111

operating. 24

4 Baker Us : '

Prepse E;hool Methodists Baldwin 1888-191¢% 31
B Baptist

Gal{logo Baptist Pratt © 1891-1803 2
6 Bethan

cellng:z Acad. Independent Lindaborg 1881-1927* 46
7 Bethany

College Episcopal Topeka 1861-1088 67
B8 Bethel

College Hennonlte Newton 1803-1987 34



154.
TABLE I (continued)

Name of School  Founding Place Dates of Yrs. of
Organization Existence Exisk-
. , , goass
9 Breese Col- Independent ®
lege Academy Holiness Hutehinson 1908-2¢ill" 30
operating.
10 Brumbach
Academy Independent Eldorade 1895-1500 6
11 Campbell »
University  Independent Holton 1882-1918°
12 Cetholis High Catholie Kensas 1908-8t111

City, Kan, operating.

13 Central Acade- Free
my and College Methodists McPherson  1914-8till

operating. 21
14 Clark Academy Independent Goedland 1888-1890 2

15 College of
mposg Acad-

eny Prubytom Empeoria 1883+1918 20
1¢ En ise "

s hoads Independent Enterprise 1884-st111%

enden se

i ® oparating. 49
1% Faﬁmmie od

clle -

&q e Independent Wichita 1892-1016° 26
18 Priends U.

Prep, School Friends Wiochita 1808-1982 84
A S Independent Geneva  1866-1879 13
20 @irls Catho-

lie R. B, Cathelic Haysn 1918-8t111

operating. 17
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TABIE I (continued)

Wame Of Sehool  Vounding  Flace  Dates Of Iva, of

Organization Existenge Existe
£l Gould United
Eelj.osu 4 Brethern Harlan 18811887 6
22 Grellet ‘
Acadeny Friends Glen Elder 1878-1808 17
23 Halstead
Academy Mennonite Halstead 1883-1893 10
24 Hearper College Church of
{hrist Harper 1915-1924 9
25 Hartford
Golleglate
mtg Methodist Bartford 1868-1878 16
£6 Haviland
Aeademy Friends Haviland 1892-8¢111
operating. 43
27 Hesper
Acadenty Friends Hesper 1884-1004 20
28 Hiawatha
Academy Independent Hiswatha  1888-1015° 87
20 Highland :
College Presbyterian Highland 1845-8t111
_ operating. 90
30 Immaculata

High Sechool Catholie Leavenworth 1911-8till
’ - operating. 24

31 Immaculate
Conception H,8. Catholie Great Bend 1908-8%till
operating. 33

52 Tmmasulate
Congeption H.8. Catholie St. Mary's 1900-85till1
operating. 36
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TABLE I (contimed) '

Name of Sechool Founding Place Dates of Yrs. of
Organisation Existonce Exist-
onee.
34 Immaculate
Heart of ;
High 8chool gatholic Windhorst. 1928-86i11
operating., 13
34 Jetmore
Academy independent Jotmore 1887-1869 2

35 EKansas Chris-

tian Gollege Christlan  ILincoln  1888-1910 28
36 Lane Univer-
sity Independent Lecompton 1865-1908% 43
37 lLewis Academy Presbyterian Wichita 1886-1910 24
38 Lowell Poly~
taechniec Inat. Friends Lowell 1802+1004 18
39 McPhersen Col« Church of
lege Acadany Brethemm McFPherson 1888-1024 36
40 ¥arymounb
Academy Catholis Salina 192288411
operating. 13
41 Midlsand College Lutheran Atchison 1887-1919 32
42 Miltonvals Wes~ Yesleyan
leyan College lethodist Niltonvale 1909-8t111
operating. 26
43 Mount Carmel
Academy catholic Wichita 1887+86411
operating, 48

44 Mount 8t, Jos-
eph Asadeny Uatholie Abilene 1888-19014

45 Wount 8Bt, ‘
Scholistieca Catholle Atohison 1863-5t411
operating. 78



TABLE I (contimued)

157 |

V. i —— ﬁ_:‘ - Lm oo e .
llm of School Founding Place Datu ot‘ m of
Organization Exigtence m:t-
R — — ence s
—~ -
46 NHezareth _
Acedenmy gatholic Concordla 1884<1922 38
47 Heosho Rapids Free Neosho | - ‘
Seimiary Methodists Rapids 1883~1888 B
48 Yorithbraneh P e, b
Academy Friends Forthbranch 1889-8t111
49 Fotre Deme de "
Loudres Academy Catholie Phe Secott 1902-1908 é
B0 Oawego
College: Independent Oswego 1870-1872 g
51 Oswego Gcllege
(eirls School} Presbyteriasn Oswego 183&-1!!0 a7
58 Ottawa Univere
sity Academy  Baptist Ottawa 1866-1925 59
B3 Roe Indian k p A
Institute Independent Wiehita 1915-1938"% 18
54 Sacred Heart )
Acadeny Catholie Bsnhatten 1908-8%¢111
, operating. 27
55 Sacred Heart S ‘
High School Catholie Salins 1908-8t411
operating, 27
56 St, Annts ‘
Acadeny Cathollg St, Pawul 18471886 38
57 St4 Benedict's
co{lago catholie Atehigon 1859-8t411
operating. 76
58 St. Frencls _
Acadeny cathoide  St. Paul  1847-1891 44



61

87

88

69

PABLE I (continued)

8t. John's
Acadexy

8t, Jobn's
College

S8t, John's

Military sSchool Episcopal

8t, Josephts
college

S8t, Joseph's
School

8¢, of
the P

St. lw*‘
Academy

8t. Mary's
cath, He 8¢

St, Mary's
College
St, Mary's
High Sehool

8te Bary's
Sehool

Catholis

Lutheran

Catholis

Catholin

Cathelie

Cathelie

Catholie

Catholis

gatholic

Salins

Hays

olpe

1887-86411
operating.

1893-86411
aperating.

1906-8t411
operating.

Dodge City 1913«8t1ll

ﬁmnﬂu.

leaveaworth 1868+84il11

Wichita

Ste m'.

Herndon

gorham

operating.

1888-8%411
pperating.

1839-1931

1989-88411
operating.

1082-8t111
gperating.

168"

30

4%
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TABLE I (continued)

- —— = ——— e e ]
Hame of School Founding Place Datea of Yia, of
Organization Existence Exist-

W e err e ,m vearsn - :lm.
70 8t. Michael's .
High Sghool Catholie Axtell 1918-8¢t411
operating. 17

.

Academy Catholic Danville 18901-1008 17
72 St. Xavier's Junetion - 1871811l

School Catholic city: operating. €4
73 Soule | B

College Presbyterian Dodge City 1887-1891 &
74 Soule | o

College Methodists Deodge City 1806-1902. 6
76 Zoutheyn Kan, Congrega~- |

Acoademy tional Eureka 1885-19_15 30

76 Southwestern
Col, Academy Methodist Winfield 1891-1917 26

77 Spring River Quaker . . 75 '

Academy Friends Valley 187910028 83
78 Sterling United | ,

College Presbyterian Sterling 1886-1919 33
79 Stockton Congrega~

Academy . . tional Stockton 1887-1895 6
80 Tabor

colleges Mennonite Hillsbore 1908-Still

, ' operating, 2%

81 Tonganoxie

Aoagemg" * Friends Tonganoxis 1884-1898 14
82 Ursuline

Academy Catholie Pacla 1895-8t411

operating. 40
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TABLE I (continued)

Fame of 80hool  Founding ~ Place Dates of Yrs. of

Organization Existence Exist«
:neo.
83 Washburn Congrega-
Jollege tional ~ Topelka 1865~1918 53
84 Washington

Acedemy Friends Washington 1892-19021

85 Western Chris-
tian niversity Christian Obtumwa 1863-1868 8

86 Wetmore A
Institute Presbyterian Irving 1862-1871 9

87 Wilson Methodist Kansas City j
Aoad.mL . JFrotestant Kansas 1896-1987 51

& Bethany eanoge ¢came under the Mntrol of Lutheran
Syned in 1884,

b Passed under control of Church of the Nazarens, 1815.
¢ Taken over by the United Brethern Chursh, 1903,

d Passed under contrel of United Bretherm 1891
Methodists, 1892, Seventh Day Adventists, 1 P

o uuma under gonbdrol of Congregationalists, 1895.
£ Came under control of Baptists, 1902,
g Ceme under control of United Brethern, 1868.

h Came under FPresbyterian g¢entrol, 1987.
i Ceme under control of Baptist Chureh, 1800,
4 Came under control of United Bretherm, 1913,
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TABLE II

THE NUMBER OF SCHOOLS POUNDED AND CLOSED
IN TEN-YEAR PERIODS, 1830 T0 19385

S - — e ———————————

Period Schools Kumber of
Founded Academies

= ...’ .

1830-1839 1

1840-1840 2

1850-1859 i

1860-1869 10 1

1870-1879 5 8

1880-1889 28 ¢

1800-1899 18 8

1900-1909 iz ®

1910-1919 ¥ 13

1920-1929 4 10

1930-1938 2

A
e A

Read table thus: In the period 1830 to 1839, one
academy was founded in Kansas and none closed.
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SHOWING THE NUMBER OF ACADEMIES FOUNDED BY VAR~
I0US DENOMINATIONS, THE NUMBEE AND PER
CERT OF THOSE FOUNDED HOW CLOSED
AND THE NUMBER AND PER
CENT NOW OPEN

| ominat on “ Acadun:l.u o 8541l oporaﬁ-
eron V ”m " ¢ Humber elosed
No. % Nos ‘ No, ’

Catholie 38 100 8 a5 24 78
Independent 13 100 12 92 1* @
Friends 9 100 % 78 g a8
Presbyterians &. 100 5 83 1 A7
Methodists 4 100 4 100 o 00
Congregational 3 100 3 100 0 00
Iutheran 3 100 2 67  § 38
Hennonite 3 100 2 67 1 33
Baptists 2 100 2 100 0
Christian g 100 2 100 (¢]
Episcopal 2 100 b § §0 1 80
411 others B - B  62.8 3 7.5
| Q'Hﬁmrol of Seventh Dny Ldvon;!.-u.

Read table thuss The Catholies founded thirty-two
scademies of which e1ght or bwenbty~five per cent have been
eloged and twenty-four or seventy-five per cent remain open.
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TABLE IV

SHOWING THE NUMBER OF SCHOOLS WHICH ERXISTED
FOR VARIOUS PERIODS OF TIME

. tmaers ol . . e —
Yoars No. of schools Nios of schools
Existence c¢losed whigch still o which
have been in ex~ have sted for
istence. Years years indicated.
) MG&M.
- e - e e =SS
0- 9 16 ; |
10«19 ) 5
20-20 10 9
30-39 ig 8
40-49 3 )
50-69 2 0
60«69 ) § 2
7079 0 pd
80-89 Q 4]
90-99 0 1l
e e

umber 54 Yumber 34
Average length of Average life to date
life 23,3 years 36,5 years

Read table 1 BSixzteen of the closed schools were
open nine years or lessj one of the schools at present open
has been in existence nine years or less,
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APPENDIX B

This research began with first-hend information as
8 "home-base" for the subsequent work on any given instie
tution included, This usually consisted of either personal
interviews or letters of a personal nature both from and ‘Ba
the writer. There were, however, same rather definite
forms given outgeing inguiries and these are herewith in-
aluded as perhaps being of some poui’bh use to anyone de=
siring to follow a a.tmilar procedure., The master sheet for
assembling data also is inecluded,

Exhibit A is & copy of the first form letter sent to
county superlntan&n‘bl of the State of Kansas in connection
with this study,

Exhibit B i a specimen of type letter sent to per-
sons or orsa.nizat&oﬁs to whom the wriui- was mror;-od by
others.

Exhibit ¢ is a specimen of another type and style of
letter used in the same manner as Exhibit B of Appendix B,
this study.

Exhibit D is a facsimile of the front of the master
sheet used in assembling data on each school studied.

Exhibit E is a facsimile of the back of the master
sheet used in assembling data on each sehool studied.
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EXHIBIT A

November 30, 1934

I am undertaking to make a survey of the academles
which existed in Kansas ln considerable numbers, mostly
under religious denominational supervision, prior to the
advent of the high schools. Kansas seems to have speclal~
ized along this line and I have already discovered some
very interesting schools still in existence, left over
from that period. *his investigation is in connection
with work on a master's thesis,

If you would be 80 kind as to give name of sochool,
type of currisulum enrollment, financing, date of founde
ing, denominastion, if s$ill in existence and if not the
date of closing, location, ete., I shall sertainly appre-
ciate it If you do not fenow personally about an academy
or stademies in your county and can Jot down on the card
the name of someone who does, I would appreciate that alsoj
or; if it takes time ln investigating or gathering old
catalogs, pamphlets of the school, newspaper accounts
county records searched, ete,, I shall be more than Si&d
to pay forty cents per hour for a reasonable amount of
time to anyone you might choose as sulitable to do the
WOrkK.

Youra very truly,

Virgil E. Hurt
424 Commereial St.
VEH: BE
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EXHIBIT B

December 7, 1934

Charles F. 8Scott
Editor of Iola Dally Reglater
Iola, Kensas

Desar Sirs

Your nesme has been referred to me by Mr, Leslle
Smith, Geneva Postmaster, for information concerning the
old Geneve Academy. I understand that, at one time, you
were & student therse. :

Enolosed you will find a copy of the letter whiech
I sent to Mr. Smith expleining my interests in this
matter.

I will eppreciate W information you may be able
to give me.,

Yours very truly,
Virgil E. Hurt

424 Commercial 8t.
BE
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EXHIBIT ©

November 12, 1934

St, John's College
Winfleld, Keansas

Gentlemen:

Your name has been referred to me by Ann Kaster,
your County Superintendent, for Information concerning
academles of your county.

Enclosed you will find & copy of the letter whiech
I sent to Mr. Stone explaining my interests in these
academien

0ld catalogs, ecireulsrs or any printed matter
of any nature which you may be able te furnish re
these schools would be very much appreciated, I will
guaranty to return same in good condition and refund all
postage.

Yours very truly,

424 Commercial S8t.
BE
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EXHIBIT D

 Neme in full: Loeations
Whenﬂfaundeds | When discontinued;
Reagon for establishment:

By'whémz

Liat of subjects taught in {Q&f:
1860-1885 885-1915 1916-1934

Enrollment and number of teachers:
1860 1870 1880
1861
is62
1863
1864
1865
1866
1867
1868
1869

[ =
W O 3 o ;m P o P §

o O® ~3 O o B O
0w O =~ & ¢, & H,m W
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EXHIBIT E

1900 1910 1920 1930

& 0 w &

W m O~ e e B W M
® W O~ o o A W M
T o s o ¢ & B W M

Amownt of endowment:

Sources of income:

Uniform requived:
Number buildings:

Campus
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